The GOOD The BAD & UGLY of Food Safety From MOLECULES to MICROBES



PROFESSOR DR. FATIMAH ABU BAKAR



PROFESSOR DR. FATIMAH ABU BAKAR

B.Sc (Hons) UKM, M.Sc (London, UK), Ph.D (UPM)

7 December 2012

Dewan Kuliah Teknologi Makanan 1 Fakulti Sains Dan Teknologi Makanan Universiti Putra Malaysia



Universiti Putra Malaysia Press Serdang • 2012 http://www.penerbit.upm.edu.my

© Universiti Putra Malaysia Press First Print 2012

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form without permission in writing from the publisher, except by a reviewer who wishes to quote brief passages in a review written for inclusion in a magazine or newspaper.

UPM Press is a member of the Malaysian Book Publishers Association (MABOPA) Membership No.: 9802

Typesetting	: Sahariah Abdol Rahim @ Ibrahim
Cover Design	: Md Fairus Ahmad

Design, layout and printed by Penerbit Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM Serdang Selangor Darul Ehsan Tel: 03-8946 8855 / 8854 Fax: 03-8941 6172 http://www.penerbit.upm.edu.my

Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	3
Potential Hazards to Food Safety	6
Practical Sterilization Approach to Control Major Pathogenic Bacteria on Food	14
Significance of Biogenic Amines to Food Safety	15
Current and Emerging Approaches in Controlling Biogenic Amines Content in Foods	37
Rapid Methods of Determination for Contaminants in Seafood	57
The Way Forward	65
References	68
Biography	83
Acknowledgement	95
Lists of Inaugural Lectures	97

ABSTRACT

Food safety is about ensuring that our food is safe to eat. Food quality concerns ensuring that it is nutritious and acceptable. Food safety is the absolute priority. It must be assured to protect the consumer, and to maintain and expand food markets.

Like all disease, foodborne illness seems to strike at random. When people are exposed to foodborne microbes, some of them get sick while many others will suffer few or no ill effects.

Foodborne diseases are largely preventable, though there is no simple one-step prevention measure like a vaccine. Instead, measures are needed to prevent or limit contamination all the way from the farm to the table.

- A variety of good agricultural and manufacturing practices can reduce the spread of microbes among animals and prevent the contamination of foods.
- Careful review of the whole food production process can identify the principal hazards, and the control points where contamination can be prevented, limited, or eliminated.
- A formal method for evaluating the control of risk in foods exists is called the Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point, or *HACCP* system. This was first developed by *NASA* to make sure that the food eaten by astronauts was safe. HACCP safety principles are now being applied to an increasing spectrum of foods, including meat, poultry, and seafood.

For some particularly risky foods, even the most careful hygiene and sanitation are insufficient to prevent contamination, and a definitive microbe-killing step must be included in the process.

The main concern is the safety hazards associated with the poultry and aquaculture food animals especially bacterial pathogens.

Currently, the most fail-safe method is to consistently monitor the bacterial level in the food animals from the point immediately after obtaining them to just before it is sold to the consumer. However, this has done very little to reduce food poisoning among consumers, as it is time-consuming and lacks reinforcement in some improvised areas of the world. Therefore, research is ongoing worldwide on finding a way to reduce, if not, remove the hazards present in the food animals, either by prevention (before or during its growth), or production.

This publication discusses the importance of food safety. It analyzes issues related to food safety, such as spoilage, food-borne pathogens and the microbiological quality of food including some of the examples of work carried out by our research group. It then discusses the significance of contaminants such as biogenic amines with regards to food safety during handling and storage. Our findings provide significant information regarding histamine degrading bacteria and factors influencing its activity. In addition, the findings also emphasized the effectiveness of using bacteria with amines oxidase activity in reducing histamine accumulation in fermented food products. Lastly, the publication looks at the development of rapid enzyme-based biosensor technology in detecting histamine and formaldehyde in fish and seafoods.

INTRODUCTION

Like all disease, foodborne illness seems to strike at random. When people are exposed to foodborne microbes, some of them get sick while many others will suffer few or no ill effects.

Now it appears that the randomness extends to the public response. Some outbreaks of disease are quickly traced to their sources while other epidemics — probably the great majority — will take longer to be detected, if at all.

Making food safe in the first place is a major effort, involving the farm and fishery, the production plant or factory, and many other points from the farm to the table. Many different groups in public health, industry, regulatory agencies, and academia have roles to play in making the food supply less contaminated. Consumers can promote general food safety with their dollars, by purchasing foods that have been processed for safety.

- For example, milk pasteurization was a major advance in food safety that was developed 100 years ago. Buying pasteurized milk rather than raw unpasteurized milk still prevents an enormous number of foodborne diseases every day.
- *V. cholerae* is the etiological agent of cholera which is spread by contaminated food, water or direct fecal contact with food handlers (Suzita et al., 2010)
- Now juice pasteurization is a recent important step forward that prevents *E. coli O157:H7* infections and many other diseases. Consumers can look for and buy pasteurized fruit juices and ciders.

• In the future, meat and other foods will be available that has been treated for safety with <u>irradiation</u>. These new technologies are likely to be as important step forward as the pasteurization of milk.

Malaysia fishery products export is valued at RM 2610 million per year. About 50% of Malaysia fishery products are exported to the European Union (EU) and United States of America (USA). However, in 2008, Malaysia had voluntary delisted 58 fishery establishments from the EU approved third country approval list in section VIII for fishery products. A total of 6 were re-listed after the mission inspection in May, 2009 and total 19 are listed as of December, 2010. The main microbiological non-compliance are due to food safety hazards such as *Salmonella* and *E. coli*; while chemical non-compliances are histamine, nitrofuran, malachite green, leuco-malachite green, chloramphenicol, and banned drugs. The voluntary delisting of fishery establishments in 2008 had caused major economic impact to Malaysia fishery industry and economic losses to the country and has yet to recover.

What is Foodborne Illness (Disease, Infection)?

Foodborne illness (sometimes called "foodborne disease," "foodborne infection," or "food poisoning) is a common, costly—yet preventable—public health problem. Each year, 1 in 6 individuals gets sick by consuming contaminated foods or beverages. Many different disease-causing microbes, or pathogens, can contaminate foods, so there are many different foodborne infections. In addition, poisonous chemicals, or other harmful substances can cause foodborne diseases if they are present in food.

More than 250 different foodborne diseases have been described. Most of these diseases are infections, caused by a variety of bacteria, viruses, and parasites that can be foodborne.

Other diseases are poisonings, caused by harmful toxins or chemicals that have contaminated the food, for example, poisonous mushrooms.

These different diseases have many different symptoms, so there is no one "syndrome" that is foodborne illness. However, the microbe or toxin enters the body through the gastrointestinal tract, and often causes the first symptoms there, so nausea, vomiting, abdominal cramps and diarrheas are common symptoms in many foodborne diseases (Haryani et al., 2007).

Many microbes can spread in more than one way, so we cannot always know that a disease is foodborne. The distinction matters, because public health authorities need to know how a particular disease is spreading to take the appropriate steps to stop it.

These are some of the important definitions associated with food safety:

- Foodborne illness any illness carried to humans by food.
- **Foodborne infection** an illness caused by the ingestion of live bacteria in or on food.
- Foodborne intoxication an illness caused by ingestion of toxins in food, regardless of the presence or absence of live bacteria.
- **Toxins** compounds produced by living organisms that cause harm to other organisms.
- Microbes living organisms only visible by microscope (e.g. bacteria, yeasts, molds).
- **Spores** produced by some types of microbes and are very resistant to heat and dehydration (bacterial survival kits, so to speak).

• **Pathogens** – disease-causing microorganisms such as those responsible for foodborne illnesses

Foods are biological materials and are therefore subjected to many changes during handling, processing, and storage.

POTENTIAL HAZARDS TO FOOD SAFETY

Food safety hazards are divided into three categories: biological hazards, chemical hazards, and physical hazards.

- **Biological hazards** include certain bacteria, viruses, parasites, and fungi, as well as certain plants, mushrooms, and fish that carry harmful toxins.
- **Chemical hazards** include pesticides, food additives, preservatives, cleaning supplies, and toxic metals that leach from cookware and equipment.
- **Physical hazards** consist of foreign objects that accidentally get into the food, such as hair, dirt, metal staples, and broken glass.

By far, biological hazards pose the greatest threat to food safety. Disease-causing microorganisms are responsible for the majority of foodborne illness outbreaks.

Biological Hazards: Microbes

Microorganisms are tiny living organisms. Bacteria, yeasts, and molds are microbes that are important in the food industry. Desirable, controlled growth of selected microorganisms provides us with delightful, flavourful products such as cheeses, yogurts, sauerkraut, bread, and wines.

The most common cause of food contamination is the unwanted, undesirable growth of yeasts, molds, and bacteria. When we use

the term "growth" we mean an increase in numbers or population. Furthermore, improperly handled or stored food can carry and transmit diseases as a result of growth of organisms such as *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Salmonella*, and *Clostridium botulinum* (Robin et al., 2007).

We live in a microbial world, and there are many opportunities for food to become contaminated as it is produced and prepared.

- Many foodborne microbes are present in healthy animals (usually in their intestines) raised for food. Meat and poultry carcasses can become contaminated during slaughter by contact with small amounts of intestinal contents.
- Similarly, fresh fruits and vegetables can be contaminated if they are washed or irrigated with water that is contaminated with animal manure or human sewage.
- Some types of <u>Salmonella</u> can infect a hen's ovary so that the internal contents of a normal looking egg can be contaminated with <u>Salmonella</u> even before the shell in formed.
- Oysters and other filter feeding shellfish can concentrate <u>Vibrio</u> bacteria that are naturally present in sea water, or other microbes such as norovirus that are present in human sewage dumped into the sea (Abu Bakar, 1997).

Later in food processing, other foodborne microbes can be introduced from infected humans who handle the food, or by cross contamination from some other raw agricultural product.

- For example, *Shigella* bacteria, <u>hepatitis A</u> virus and <u>norovirus</u> can be introduced by the unwashed hands of food handlers who are themselves infected.
- Cross-contamination is the scientific word for how bacteria can be spread from one food product to another. This is especially

true when handling raw meat, poultry, and seafood, so keep these foods and their juices away from ready-to-eat foods.

- In the kitchen, microbes can be transferred from one food to another food by using the same knife, cutting board or other utensil to prepare both, without washing the surface or utensil in between (Chai et al., 2008).
- A food that is fully cooked can become re-contaminated if it touches other raw foods or drippings from raw foods that contain pathogens (Chai et al., 2007).

Thousands of species of microorganisms exist in nature. Microorganisms only become visible when growing in masses containing millions of cells. For example, more than 250,000 of them will fit onto the head of a pin! Because microorganisms are so widely distributed in the soil, water, and air, it is normal to find many types and species on the surfaces of fresh foods. Their vegetative cells are easily killed by heating food to a boiling water temperature. However, the vegetative cells of some bacteria are capable of forming spores that resist death during heating. Spores are a form of the organism that survives in a resting (or hibernating) state. When a favorable environment occurs, the spores will germinate and produce vegetative cells. The growth of vegetative cells on food is influenced by temperature, the availability of moisture, nutrients, oxygen, acidity, and growth inhibitors (Abu Bakar and Motohiro, 1996).

Bacteria

Bacteria come in many shapes including rods, balls, or spirals. They grow and increase in number by the splitting of a single cell.

Some cause diseases and are known as pathogens. Foodborne means the pathogens can be transmitted by food. Many non-pathogenic bacteria cause spoilage when they grow on food.



Figure 1 Plating media showing the growth of *Salmonella* sp.(a), electron micrograph of rod-shaped bacteria (b) and electron micrograph of coccus-shaped bacteria (c)

Molds

Molds grow on most foods and require air and water, although they need less water than bacteria. In appearance, their masses of growth usually are fuzzy and can be nearly any color. Some molds produce toxins that are carcinogenic (cancer causing). These molds commonly grow on fruits, fruit products, grains, grain products, The Good, The Bad and Ugly of Food Saftey: From Molecules to Mirobes



(c)

Figure 2 Microscopic pictures of *Aspergillus* sp. (a) and *Alternaria* spp. (b) and fruit contaminated with *Aspergillus* sp. (c)

Yeasts

Yeasts can grow with or without air and require more water than molds. Their masses in or on food appear as slime, scum, or murkiness. Yeast fermentation in food is recognized by gas bubbles, froth, or foam, which result from the fermentation activity and the production of carbon dioxide gas. Depending on the specific growth conditions, yeasts convert sugars to ethanol and then bacteria convert the ethanol to vinegar, alcohol (e.g., beer and wines), or carbon dioxide (e.g., raised bread) during fermentation (Law et al., 2011).



Figure 3 Yeast cells as observed under light microscope (a) and electron microscope (b)

Chemical Contamination

The contamination of food by chemical hazards is a worldwide public health concern and is a leading cause of trade problems internationally. Contamination may occur through environmental pollution of the air, water and soil, such as the case with toxic metals, PCBs and dioxins, or through the intentional use of various chemicals, such as pesticides, animal drugs and other agrochemicals.

Chemicals are routinely added to processed foods to preserve them and to enhance flavor and appearance. These chemicals have been tested and are believed to be safe. However, some additives, such as artificial sweeteners or fat substitutes, carry warnings about potential bad effects of eating them (Suwaibah et al., 2009). Boric acid, a banned preservative is still occasionally found in many products such as yellow noodle and fish ball (See et al., 2010). Although many consumers worry about artificial chemicals, naturally occurring chemicals can be more dangerous. Allergy-producing substances, called allergens, are a major concern.

Some people have dangerous, potentially fatal allergic reactions to chemicals found in peanuts, tree nuts (e.g., walnuts, pecans, and almonds), shellfish, eggs, milk, soy, fish, and wheat. Other naturallyoccurring chemicals are added to foods as dietary supplements, but there may not be proof that these are either effective or safe. In rare cases, chemicals get into food accidentally and the potential exists for pesticides, animal drug residues, or cleaning substances to show up in foods. Other chemical hazards may arise from environmental pollution.

Physical Contamination

A physical contaminant is anything that can be visibly seen and is not part of the food originally. Physical contamination is foreign bodies in food. The contamination could occur at any stage of food production. It could be contaminated during production from raw materials; it could be contaminated during preparation or during storage and service. Common items found include stones, wood, bones, pests, plastic, screws, wire and glass.

Through these means, improperly preserved foods can lose their aesthetic appeal, nutritional value and worse, may become hazardous. By investigating the various causes of spoilage and the effects of various food handling, preparation, packaging, and storage techniques on food quality, we can learn to distinguish between safe and hazardous preservation methods (Suzita et al., 2009).

What Foods are Most Associated with Foodborne Illness?

• Raw foods of animal origin are the most likely to be contaminated; that is, raw meat and poultry, raw eggs, unpasteurized milk, and raw shellfish (Suzita et al., 2009)

- Because filter-feeding shellfish strain microbes from the sea over many months, they are particularly likely to be contaminated if there are any pathogens in the seawater (Suzita et al., 2010)
- Foods that mingle the products of many individual animals, such as bulk raw milk, pooled raw eggs, or ground beef, are particularly hazardous because a pathogen present in any one of the animals may contaminate the whole batch



Figure 4 Several food products at risk of food-borne illness

PRACTICAL STERILIZATION APPROACH TO CONTROL MAJOR PATHOGENIC BACTERIA ON FOOD

Food can harbour a large number of pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms during primary and further processing, therefore appropriate and safe antibacterial agents able to decontaminate food surfaces have long been big concern of food industry. Organic acids are weak acids that are commonly found in fruit juices and fermented foods. Organic acids have a long history of being applied as food additives and preservatives for preventing food deterioration and extending the shelf-life of perishable food ingredients. Organic acids are Generally Recognized As Safe (GRAS) antimicrobial agent and the dilute solutions of organic acids (1-3%) are generally without effect on the desirable sensory properties of meat when used as a carcass decontaminant (Raftari et al., 2009).

Various researchers indicated the antibacterial effect of different types of organic acids. Previous studies focused on limited treatments for controlling bacteria in which results were inconsistent because of the extensive variations in conditions of experiments. Studies carried out on spray-wash treatments utilizing concentrations (1, 1.5 and 2%) of acetic, lactic, propionic and formic acids, alone or in combination of two acids, were performed to reduce numbers of Salmonella typhimurium and Listeria monocytogenes on meat tissues at 4±1°C. Salmonella typhimurium- and L. monocytogenesinoculated meat was spray-washed with treatments for 15 sec separately. The populations of S. typhimurium and L. monocytogenes significantly (p < 0.05) decreased after being spray-washed with all treatments. The lethality effect of all organic acids according to the concentration was 2>1.5>1% concentration (p<0.05). The antibacterial effect of formic acid was > lactic acid > acetic acid > propionic acid (p < 0.05). Moreover, the antibacterial effect of organic acids increased when used in combinations. Lactic and

formic acid combination showed the highest lethal effect (Raftari et al., 2012).



Figure 5 Mode of action of organic acids on bacteria (eg. *E. coli, Salmonella sp., Listeria sp.* etc.)

SIGNIFICANCE OF BIOGENIC AMINES TO FOOD SAFETY

The primary relevance of biogenic amines (BA) is that intake of foods or beverages containing high concentrations of biogenic amines can present a health hazard through the direct toxic effect of these compounds and their interaction with some medical treatments; but also they may have a role as indicators of quality and/or acceptability in some foods (Shalaby, 1996). As food safety is the main focus of this document, attention will primarily be on the former aspect. As neither the most toxic (histamine and tyramine) nor other BAs are significantly affected by normal cooking or other processing of food or beverages makes food safety assurance in respect to BA more challenging. Biogenic amines (BA) are natural antinutrition factors and are important from a hygienic point of view as they have been implicated as the

causative agents in a number of food poisoning episodes, and they are able to initiate various pharmacological reactions. Histamine, putrescine, cadaverine, tyramine, tryptamine, -phenylethylamine, spermine, and spermidine are considered to be the most important biogenic amines occurring in foods. These amines are designated as biogenic because they are formed by the action of living organisms. Histamine has been implicated as the causative agent in several outbreaks of food poisoning, while tyramine and -phenylethylamine have been proposed as the initiators of hypertensive crisis. The toxicity of biogenic amines to chicks in terms of loss of weight and mortality was also reported. The toxicity of histamine appeared to be enhanced by the presence of other amines such as cadaverine, putrescine, and tyramine. Biogenic amines may also be considered as carcinogens because of their ability to react with nitrites to form potentially carcinogenic nitrosamines (Jamilah et al., 2010).

Formation of biogenic amines can occur during food processing and storage as a result of bacterial activities. Consequently, higher amounts of certain amines may be found in foods as a consequence of the use of poor quality raw materials, microbial contamination and inappropriate conditions during food processing, and microbial contamination and inadequate conditions during storage. There is evidence that as the hygienic quality of the product decreases, the biogenic amine content increases. Therefore, a number of published studies explored possibilities of using the amine concentrations as a parameter of process hygiene and food spoilage/quality (Abu Bakar et al., 2008a).

The biogenic amine content of various foods and feed have been widely studied and found in cheese, fish and meat products, eggs and mushrooms. Food substances that have been prepared by a fermentative process, or have been exposed to microbial

contamination during aging or storage, are likely to contain amines. Alcoholic beverages such as beers can contain biogenic amines, as do some other fermented foods such as sauerkraut and soy bean products. Amines were also considered as endogenous to plant substance that is commonly used for food, where some fruits and vegetables were found to contain high concentrations of various amines (Law et al., 2011).

The biogenic amine content (particularly) of some foods has been widely studied because of their potential toxicity. Histamine has been implicated as the causative agent in outbreaks of food poisoning where intoxication results from the ingestion of foods containing excessive amounts of histamine. Although commonly associated with the consumption of scombroid-type fish, other foods such as cheese have also been associated with outbreaks of histamine poisoning (Abu Bakar et al., 2008a).

What are Biogenic Amines and How they are Formed in Food?

Biogenic amines are basic nitrogenous compounds with low molecular weight formed mainly by decarboxylation of amino acids or by amination and transamination of aldehydes and ketones (Halasz et al., 1994; Santos, 1996). Their chemical structure can either be aliphatic (putrescine, cadaverine, spermine, spermidine, agmatine), aromatic (tyramine, phenylethylamine) or heterocyclic (histamine, tryptamine) (Santos, 1996). Biogenic amines are formed and degraded during the normal metabolism in the cell of animals, plants, and microorganisms. Metabolic pathway for the formulation of biogenic amines is presented on Figure 6 (Halasz et al., 1994).



Figure 6 Metabolic pathways for the formation of biogenic amines (Halasz et al., 1994)

Biogenic amines in food are formed mainly through microbial decarboxylation of free amino acids and favourable conditions for their growth. Decarboxylation of free histidine resulting in the formation of histamine, which is the most common amine related to food poisoning incidence by biogenic amines (Abu Bakar

et al., 2008b). Tyrosine, tryptophan, lysine and phenylalanine are decarboxylated to tyramine, tryptamine, cadaverine and phenylethylamine, respectively (Halasz et al., 1994; Shalaby, 1996; Teti et al., 2002). Arginine is directly decarboxylated to agmatine in the presence of arginine decarboxylase. On the other hand, arginine is converted to ornithine by arginase, followed by the decarboxylation of ornithine to putrescine, catalyzed by ornithine decarboxylase. Putrescine can also be produced from agmatine through agmatine deamination process catalyzed by agmatine amidinohydrolase (Halasz et al., 1994; Teti et al., 2002). Spermidine and spermine are formed biochemically from putrescine by attachment of an aminopropyl moiety catalyzed by spermidine and spermine synthase (Halasz et al., 1994; Teti et al., 2002). High concentration of biogenic amines in foods and beverages can be produced by microbial decarboxylation of corresponding amino acids during food spoilage. The concentrations of biogenic amines have also been proposed to be the indices of the bacterial contamination of food (Rezaei et al., 2007).

The relationship between the production of these amines and spoilage of fish has been extensively studied (Zaman et al., 2009; Chong et al., 2011). As the amines are produced by spoilage bacteria, these amines only appear in significant amount towards the end of the shelf life of a fish, their concentrations are more likely to be of value as indices of spoilage, rather than freshness. Several biogenic amines (e.g.,histamine) are considered toxic if these exceed a certain level and consequently accused of causing poisoning (Paleologos et al. 2004). However, histamine is currently the only biogenic amine which has established maximum legal level in fish. For example, 100 mg/g is the maximum average level established in tuna and other fishes of the Scombriade and Scomberesocidae families, in the European Union (EEC 1991). More recently, the Food and Drug

Administration (FDA) has lowered the histamine defect action level from100 to 50 mg/g and has recommended the use of other biogenic amines related to fish spoilage evaluation (FDA1995). Putrescine and cadaverine may cause nitrosoamine-based carcinogenic effect if these react with nitrite (Shalaby, 1996). Although high levels of putrescine and cadaverine have been shown to potentiate histamine/ tyramine toxicity, there has been no recommendation on the level of putrescine and cadaverine. Both putrescine and cadaverine may also be proposed as indicators of spoilage. Despite the potential biological relevance of biogenic amines in freshwater fish, there are limited numbers of studies on the biogenic amines content in freshwater fishes compared with sea marine fishes (Abu Bakar et al., 2008a).

Fish muscle has the ability to support the bacterial formation of a wide variety of amine compounds which results from the direct decarboxylation of amino acids. Most spoilage bacteria possessing decarboxylase activity do so in response to acidic pH, and these bacteria may raise the pH of the growth medium through the production of these amines. The combined level of putrescine and cadaverine has been suggested to serve as an index of food acceptability as the increased concentrations of these amines correlate well with protein spoilage. Furthermore the concentrations of these amines increase considerably prior to spoilage and correlate well with the microbial load (Abu Bakar et al., 2008b)

The amount and type of biogenic amines formed in foods is strongly influenced by the intrinsic food characteristics including pH, water activity, composition, microbiota and by extrinsic parameters such as storage time and temperature, which allow bacterial growth during food processing and storage.

Impact of Biogenic Amines on Human Health

Biogenic amines are required for many physiological functions in human and animals. However, consumption of food containing high concentration of biogenic amines can lead to toxicological effects. Histamine which is most active and common amine found in seafood is also known as a mediator of allergic disorder. Histamine exerts its toxic effect by interacting with receptors (H_1 , H_2 and H_3) on cellular membranes which are found in the cardiovascular system and in various secretory glands (Sellers et al., 2006; Shalaby, 1996). Histamine causes dilatation of peripheral blood vessels, capillaries and arteries, resulting in hypotension, urticaria, flushing and headache. Histamine also induced contraction of intestinal smooth muscle, mediated by H_1 receptor, causes abdominal cramp, diarrhea, nausea and vomiting. Moreover, stimulation of sensory and motor neuron by histamine causes pain and itching (Lehane and Olley, 2000).

Putrescine and cadaverine can cause hypotention and potentiate toxicity of other amines, particularly histamine (Shalaby, 1996). Several biogenic amines are also precursor of carcinogenic compounds (Halasz et al., 1994). Putrescine and cadaverine can be converted into pyrrolidine and piperidine, respectively, from which carcinogenic nitrosopyrrolidine and nitrosopiperidine are formed by heating (Shalaby, 1996).

Nitrosamines from polyamines may not necessarily pose a health risk as toxicity is reached only after consumption of large amounts, more than expected in a daily meal. Tyramine, 2- phenylethylamine, and putrescine are versoactive amines and increase blood pressure that can lead to heart failure or brain hemorrhage (Abu Bakar et al., 2008a).

Histamine poisoning (scombroid poisoning) is a worldwide problem that occurs after the consumption of food containing

biogenic amines, particularly histamine at concentrations higher than 500 ppm (Abu Bakar et al., 2008b). Histamine poisoning manifests itself as an allergen-type reaction characterized by difficulty in breathing, itching, rash, vomiting, fever, and hypertension. People having deficient natural mechanisms for detoxifying biogenic amines through genetic reasons or through inhibition due to the intake of antidepression medicines, such as monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs) are more susceptible to histamine poisoning (Zaman et al., 2009).

Occurrence of Biogenic Amines in Seafood

Fish and fish products have paid greatest attention regarding high concentration of biogenic amines. The so called "scombroid poisoning" are typical phenomena due to the consumption of fish from family of *Scombridae* such as tuna (*Thunnus* spp.) and mackerel (Scomber japonicus) containing high level of histamine. However, non-scombroid fish species are also implicated in histamine poisoning incidence worldwide such as sardines (Sardinella spp.), anchovies (Engraulis spp.), mahi-mahi (Coryphaena spp.), pilchards (Sardina pilchardus), bluefish (Pomatomus spp.), swordfish (Xiphias gladius) and garfish (Belone belone). Tao et al. (2001) had conducted a survey on the occurrence of histamine in seafood including tuna, mackerel, mahi-mahi, sardine, herring, fish sauce and dried fish sold in market of nine countries. Histamine was found in 35 of 159 fish samples tested with a detection rate of about 21%. Nine percent of fish sample contain histamine more than 50 ppm with 5 samples exceeding 500 ppm of which 2 were above 1000 ppm.



Figure 7 Various seafood products potentially containing biogenic amines

Fresh fish normally contain low amount of histamine or other amines, but the concentrations progressively increase if it is highly temperature abused (more than 20 °C). Histamine content in pacific mackerel reach 2830 mg/kg after stored at 25 °C for 48 h (Kim et al., 2001). After stored at 25 °C for 24 h, histamine content (mg/ kg) reaches 2240 in sailfish, 3390 in milkfish (Tsai et al., 2005), 1465 in anchovies, 1106 in pilchard (Visciano et al., 2007), 2124 in mackerel, 1776 in saury and 189 in Spanish mackerel (Kim et al., 2009). Skipjack tuna contain 1533 mg/kg histamine after storage at 21 °C for 48 h (Rossi et al., 2002). However, it is observed that histamine formation is slower in low temperature abuse (less than 7 °C). Ozogul et al. (2002) reported that histamine concentration in herring was 271 mg/kg after storage at 0 °C for 16 days. Histamine content in sardine was 203 mg/kg after storage at 4 °C for 15 days (Ozogul and Ozogul, 2006). Freshwater fish also contain considerable amount of biogenic amines. The concentration of

amines is increased during storage of fish. Initial histamine content in catfish (*Mystus nemurus*) of around 30.1 ppm may increase to more than 150 ppm after storage at ambient temperature for 24 h or at ice temperature for 20 days (Widjaja et al., 2011).

Biogenic amines content are also abundant in processed or fermented fish products. Histamine content can reach 1220 ppm in Taiwan fish sauce (Tsai et al., 2006) and 1380 ppm in Korean anchovy sauce (Sanceda et al., 1996). Putrescine and cadaverine are also dominant amines in some commercial fish sauce and might reach up to 1257 ppm and 1429 ppm, respectively (Stute et al., 2002). Histamine content in 549 commercial fish sauce samples in Thailand was observed within the range Of 200-600 ppm (Brillantes and Samosorn, 2001). While fish sauce samples consumed in Malaysia contain around 62.5-393.3 ppm of histamine, 5.6-242.8 ppm of putrescine and 187.1-704.7 ppm of cadaverine (Zaman et al., 2010). The quality of raw materials and hygienic condition during fermentation are thought to be most important factors in determining biogenic amines content in fish sauce products (Zaman et al., 2009). Naila et al. (2011) reported that the highest histamine content among twenty eight samples of *Rihaakuru* (fish paste of Maldives) was detected at 5487 mg/kg. Samples of Taiwan fermented fish products namely fish sauce, fish paste and shrimp paste contain highest histamine concentration of 394, 263 and 382 mg/kg, respectively (Tsai et al., 2006). The authors also revealed that 7.4% of tested samples contain more than 1000 mg/kg of histamine.

Regulation of Biogenic Amines Content in Food

Many countries have different regulation on acceptable level of biogenic amines in foods. As regulated in manufacturing standard 1992 of United Kingdom, acceptable content of histamine in foods is 100 ppm. For control of histamine in fish belonging to the

Scombridae and Clupeidae families, as stated by Luten et al. (1992) and Lehane and Olley (2000), European Union has established the regulation that nine independent samples from each batch should correspond to:

- 1. An average of histamine concentration lower than 100 ppm.
- 2. No more than two samples out of the nine with the concentration of histamine between 100 and 200 ppm.
- 3. No sample with histamine content higher than 200 ppm.

Australia New Zealand Food Authority (ANZFA) regulated that histamine content must not exceed 200 mg/kg in a composite sample of fish and fish products, other than crustaceans and mollusks (Lehane and Olley, 2000). The US Food and Drug Administration set value of 500 ppm histamine as the toxicity level and 50 ppm as the defect action level (Lehane and Olley, 2000). The Canadian Fish Inspection Agency set up the maximum limit for histamine content in fish sauce at 200 ppm (Brillantes and Samosorn, 2001). Brink et al. (1990) reported a legal upper limit for histamine in food (100 ppm) and alcoholic beverages (30 ppm). Furthermore, level of 100-800 ppm for tyramine and 30 ppm for phenylethylamine are considered potentially hazardous to human health (Brink et al., 1990; Halasz et al., 1994). However, the exact toxicity threshold of biogenic amines is not precisely determined because it depending on many factors such as individual acceptability and the presence of other components as toxicity potentiators (Brink et al., 1990; Halasz et al., 1994; Lehane and Olley, 2000; Santos, 1996). Furthermore, the threshold levels for other biogenic amines are not yet established.

The determination of biogenic amines is important not only from the view point of their toxicity, but also because they can be used as spoilage indicators of food, in particular fish, meat and their products (Brink et al., 1990; Vinci and Antonelli, 2002).

The concentration of histamine, putrescine and cadaverine are generally increased during spoilage of food, whereas concentration of spermine and spermidine are decreased during this process. The relationship between these amines was defined as Biogenic Amine Index (BAI):

 $BAI = \frac{histamine + putrescine + cadaverine}{1 + spermine + spermidine}$

The concentrations of amines are expressed as ppm. Fish or meat with BAI value below 1 is considered as the first quality, whereas BAI values above 10 indicate a very poor microbiological quality. The index score based on the formula above compared favorably to organoleptic values score (Brink et al., 1990). Positive correlation between these two scores have been reported both for fish (Ozogul and Ozogul, 2006; Paleologos et al., 2004) and meat (Vinci and Antonelli, 2002).

Factors Influencing Biogenic Amines Formation In Seafood

Biogenic amines formation in food products is either a result of endogenous amino acids decarboxylase activity in raw food material or the growth of decarboxylase positive microorganisms under conditions favorable for enzyme activity (Brink et al., 1990; Halasz et al., 1994; Shalaby, 1996). Therefore, prerequisites for the formation of biogenic amines in foods including:

- 1. The availability of free amino acids as precursor of amines formation.
- 2. The presence of microorganisms which possess decarboxylase activities.

3. Environmental condition enabling growth of microorganism's growth and their enzymatic activities.

Biogenic amines formation was also possibly altered by the presence of proteolytic enzymes as they play an important role in the release of free amino acids from protein tissues which offer the substrates for decarboxylation activity. Many factors such as microorganisms, pH, temperature, salt content and oxygen level are considered to contribute significant effect on biogenic amines formation.

Microorganisms

Biogenic amines profile in seafood is characterized by different type of microorganisms present in the product because they exhibit different decarboxylase activities. *Enterobacteriaceae* are generally recognized as dominant biogenic amines producers in fish and its products, particularly histamine, putrescine and cadaverine. Morganella morganii, Klebsiella pneumoniae and Hafnia alvei have been isolated from fish incriminated in scombroid poisoning (Halasz et al., 1994). Histamine forming enzyme was found in Proteus mitabilis (Yosinaga and Frank, 1982), Klebsiella oxytoca (Hernandez-Herrero et al., 1999), Enterobacter cloacae, Pantoea sp., Pantoea agglomerans (Tsai et al., 2005) and Morganella psychrotolerans sp. nov. (Emborg et al., 2006). Enterobacter cloacae and Pantoea agglomerans are producer of putrescine and cadaverine (Tsai et al., 2005). Paenibacillus tyramigenes isolated from salted and fermented anchovy was a strong tyramine producer (Mah et al., 2008). Pantoea sp and Pantoea agglomerans can produce spermine and spermidine in low amount (Tsai et al., 2005). Bacillus licheniformis isolated from Myeolchi-jeot, a Korean salted and fermented anchovy is reported as spemidine producer (Mah and Hwang, 2009). Photobacterium posporeum isolated from garfish

is found to produce phenylethylamine and agmatine (Dalgaard et al., 2006). Table 1 shows many bacteria which attributed to the formation of biogenic amines in fish products.

Biogenic amines	Microorganisms	Reference
Histamine	Tetragenococcus muriaticus	(Kimura et al., 2001)
	Tetragenococcus halophilus	(Satomi et al., 2008)
	Enterobacter cloacae, Pantoea sp., Pantoea agglomerans	(Tsai et al., 2005)
	Bacillus coagulans, Bacillus megaterium	(Tsai et al., 2006)
	Morganella morganii, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Hafnia alvei	(Halasz et al., 1994)
	Morganella psychrotolerans	(Emborg et al., 2006)
	Lactobacillus sp., Lactobacillus sakei, Leuconostoc mesenteroides	(Dapkevicius et al., 2000)
	Staphylococcus epidermidis, Staphylococcus capitis	(Hernandez-Herrero et al., 1999)
	Photobacterium phosphoreum	(Dalgaard et al., 2006)
Putrescine	Enterobacter cloacae, Pantoea agglomerans	(Tsai et al., 2005)
	Bacillus megaterium	(Tsai et al., 2006)
	Photobacterium phosphoreum	(Dalgaard et al., 2006)
	Lactobacillus hilgardii	(Alberto et al., 2007)
	Bacillus licheniformis	(Mah et al., 2003)

 Table 1 Bacteria responsible for biogenic amines formation in fish

 products

Cadaverine	Enterobacter cloacae, Pantoea agglomerans	(Tsai et al., 2005)
	Bacillus megaterium	(Tsai et al., 2006)
	Photobacterium phosphoreum	(Dalgaard et al., 2006)
	Bacillus licheniformis	(Mah et al., 2003)
Tyramine	Paenibacillus tyraminegenes	(Mah et al., 2008)
	Lactobacillus brevis	(Coton and Coton, 2009)
	Photobacterium phosphoreum	(Dalgaard et al., 2006)
	Enterococcus faecium	(Capozzi et al., 2011)
Spermine	Pantoaea sp., Pantoea agglomerans	(Tsai et al., 2005)
Spermidine	Pantoaea sp., Pantoea agglomerans	(Tsai et al., 2005)
-	Bacillus coagulans	(Tsai et al., 2006)
Phenylethy- lamine	Photobacterium phosphoreum	(Dalgaard et al., 2006)
Agmatine	Photobacterium phosphoreum	(Dalgaard et al., 2006)

Amino acid decarboxylase activity is also found in some species belonging to genera of *Micrococcus* and *Staphylococcus*. *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Staphylococcus capitis* are strong histamine producers from salted anchovy (Hernandez-Herrero et al., 1999). *Staphylococcus carnosus* isolated from salted mullet roe products was also found to have histamine forming enzyme (Feng Kung *et al.*, 2008). *Micrococcus luteus* was reported as histamine former during salting of sardine (Lakshmanan et al., 2002a).

Lactic acid bacteria are generally recognized as non toxinogenic, although some species isolated from fish and its products can produce biogenic amines. Histidine decarboxylase enzyme was observed in halophilic *Tetragenococcus muriaticus*

and *Tetragenococcus halophilus* isolated from fish sauce (Kimura et al., 2001; Satomi et al., 2008). Some strains of *Lactobacillus* sp., *Lactobacillus sakei* and *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* isolated from fish silage also exhibit ability to produce histamine (Dapkevicius *et al.*, 2000).

Biogenic amines forming enzyme are widely distributed in many bacterial species. Histamine forming bacteria belong to the genus of *Bacillus* isolated from fish including *Bacillus coagulans*, *Bacillus megaterium* and *Bacillus pumilus* (Hernandez-Herrero et al., 1999; Tsai et al., 2006). *Bacillus megaterium* can also produce putrescine and cadaverine, while *Bacillus coagulans* can produce spermidine (Tsai et al., 2006). Some *Pseudomonas* species isolated from fish sauce and fish paste were found to decarboxylate histidine. Another histamine forming bacteria are including *Pseudomonas cepaceae* (Hernandez-Herrero et al., 1999), *Clostridium perfringens* and *Vibrio alginolyticus* (Dalgaard et al., 2006; Yosinaga and Frank, 1982). *Photobacterium phosphoreum* was found to be a producer of many amines including histamine, putrescine, cadaverine, tyramine, phenylthylamine and agmatine (Dalgaard et al., 2006).

pН

Biogenic amines formation by bacteria has been considered as a physiological mechanism to counteract acid environment (Gardini et al., 2001; Halasz et al., 1994). Hence, activities of bacterial amino acids decarboxylase are generally optimum in low pH (Gardini et al., 2001; Kimura et al., 2001; Masson et al., 1997). Kimura et al. (2001) stated that *Tetragenococcus muriaticus* produce more histamine at pH 5.2 (668.6 ppm) than at pH 7.1 (15.8 ppm). In a model system, *Carnobacterium divergens* produce high level of tyramine when the initial pH is less than 5.0 (Masson et al., 1997). The highest formation of spermidine by *Oenococcus oeni* T65 in
vitro was also detected at pH 3, however, tyramine formation by this strain was reduced with the decrease of pH (Gardini et al., 2005).

Temperature

Formation of biogenic amines in fish is generally increased with the increase of temperature and exposure time (Emborg et al., 2005; Halasz et al., 1994; Paleologos et al., 2004). Enterobacter cloacae can produce putrescine at 20 °C but not at 10 °C. Cadaverine formation by Klebsiella pneumonia was also detected more extensive at 20 °C than at 10 °C (Halasz et al., 1994). Histamine formation is optimum at 37.8 °C and is very dependent upon microbial activity (Shalaby, 1996). Furthermore, higher temperature might favor proteolytic activity which provides substrate for decarboxylase enzyme resulting in increment of biogenic amine level. However, psychrotolerant Photobacterium phosphoreum and Morganella morganii can produce high concentration of histamine in chilled tuna and garfish (Dalgaard et al., 2006; Emborg et al., 2005). Formation of histamine, putrescine and cadaverine in rainbow trout was also detected in high rate during ice storage (Rezaei et al., 2007). During the ice storage of fish and shrimp, amine forming bacteria including genera of Photobacterium, Aeromonas and *Micrococcus* could survive and proliferate rapidly between 9 and 12 days and contribute to the amine formation (Lakshmanan et al., 2002b). Abu Bakar et al. (2008a) also revealed that formation of histamine, putrescine and cadaverine in freshwater shrimp (Macrobrachium rosenbergii) were delayed during storage at lower temperature. Icing temperature was effective to delay formation of those three amines in freshwater shrimp to a level below 100 mg/g after storage for 16 days (Figure 8).



Figure 8 Biogenic amines profile of *M. rosenbergii* during storage. (…o…) putrescine at ambient storage; (—o—) cadaverine at ambient storage; (---o---) histamine at ambient storage; (…□…) putrescine at 10° C storage; (—□—) cadaverine at 10° C storage; (---□---) histamine at 10° C storage; (…Δ…) putrescine at icing storage; (--Δ—) cadaverine at icing storage; (…Δ…) histamine at icing storage



(a)

Fatimah Abu Bakar



Figure 9 Change in biogenic amine histamine (♦), putrescine (■), and cadaverine (▲) of *Mystus nemurus* during storage at ambient temperature (28±2 °C) (a), chilled temperature (10±2 °C) (b) and iced temperature (2±1 °C) (c). Error bars indicate the standard deviation of three replications.

Widjaja et al. (2011) studied effect of temperature on biogenic amines formation during storage of river catfish (*Mystus nemurus*) which is locally known as 'ikan baung' in Malaysia. They found that formation of biogenic amines in catfish is faster in higher temperature. Histamine concentration is increased sharply exceeding the level of 100 ppm after stored for 12 hours at ambient, 8 days at chilled and 16 days at iced temperature (Figure 9). Putrescine levels increased and exceeded 100 mg/g after 16 hours at ambient, 8 days at chilled and 16 days at iced temperature.

Sodium Chloride Concentration

Sodium chloride has a significant influence on bacterial growth and therefore influences their amino acids decarboxylase activity. The rate of histamine production by *Tetragenococcus muriaticus* was considerably reduced when salt concentration increased from 5-20% (Kimura et al., 2001). Histidine decarboxylase activity of Staphylococcus capitis, Enterobacter cloacae and Pantoea agglomerans were also retarded by the high concentration of salt (Feng Kung et al., 2006; Tsai et al., 2005). This phenomenon can be attributed to reduced cell yield obtained in the presence of high sodium chloride concentration and to a progressive disturb of the membrane located microbial decarboxylase enzymes (Suzzi and Gardini, 2003). Zaman et al. (2010) had observed that fish sauce with low salt level containing higher histamine concentration than fish sauce with high salt level. On the contrary, Hernandez-Herrero et al. (1999) reported that sodium chloride enhanced activity of histidine decarboxylase of halotolerant Stappylococcus spp. isolated from salted anchovies. Hence, it can be assumed that the influence of sodium chloride in either inhibiting or stimulating biogenic amines production is strains specific.

Oxygen

Oxygen appears to have a marked effect on the formation of amines which is dependent on the producing species. *Enterobacter cloacae* produce about twice putrescine quantity in aerobic compared to anaerob condition, while Klebsiella pneumonia produce considerably less cadaverine but acquired the ability to produce putrescine under anaerobic condition (Halasz et al., 1994). Modified Atmosphere Packaging (MAP) with 40 CO₂ /60% O₂ can reduce histamine formation by Photobacterium phosphoreum during chilled storage of tuna for 28 days (Emborg et al., 2005). MAP with higher concentration of CO₂ also reduced histamine and cadaverine accumulation in Indian mackerel (Chong, 2012). Biogenic amines content of sardine were highest in sardine stored in air, followed by vacuum packaging and modified atmosphere packaging (Ozogul and Ozogul, 2006). In contrast, production of histamine by Tetragenococcus muriaticus was higher in oxygen limiting than aerobic condition although the growth rate was similar under both condition (Kimura et al., 2001).

Other Factors

The presence of fermentable carbohydrate such as glucose can increase growth and amino acids decarboxylase of bacteria (Halasz et al., 1994). *Tetragenococcus muriaticus* produced histamine for only 82.1 ppm in a medium without glucose, but addition of 1-3% (w/v) glucose in the medium significantly increase histamine level (410.6 -773.0 ppm) (Kimura et al., 2001). Halasz et al. (1994) reviewed that optimum glucose concentration for biogenic amines formation was in the range of 0.5-2.0% (w/v), while level in excess of 3% inhibited decarboxylase activity. Furthermore, the presence of arabinose was also influences the formation of tyramine and

spermidine by *Oenococcus oeni*, the values that able to maximize the production of tyramine could minimize spermidine production. The formation of biogenic amines by *Oenococcus oeni* was influenced by the presence of ethanol in the medium. The highest production of tyramine was obtained in the presence of 8% ethanol, whereas spermidine at 12% ethanol level. Moreover, the presence of SO₂ and pyridoxal 5-phosphate also influence production of amines by this bacteria (Gardini et al., 2005). Repression of histidine decarboxylase activity has been known when the amount of histamine is accumulated in the medium (Alberto et al., 2007; Halasz et al., 1994).

Several phenolic compounds may also influence the formation of biogenic amines. Putrescine formation from agmatine by *Lactobacillus hilgardii* X₁B was diminished in the presence of protocatechuic, vanillic and caffeic acids and the flavonoid catechin and rutin (Alberto et al., 2007). This indicated that beside their inherent beneficial properties to human health, phenolic compounds seem to be potential to diminish biogenic amines formation. Cinnamic aldehyde (a component of cinnamon) and eugenol (a compound of clove) are effectively inhibiting the formation of histamine, putrescine and cadaverine by *Enterobacter aerogenes* (Wendakoon and Morihiko, 1995). Histamine formation by *Klebsiella pneumonia* and *Morganella morganii* are inhibited by potassium sorbate at 0.5% (Shalaby, 1996).

CURRENT AND EMERGING APPROACHES IN CONTROLLING BIOGENIC AMINES CONTENT IN FOODS

Application of Food Additives or Preservatives

Food additives and preservatives had been used to inhibit accumulation of biogenic amines in fish and its products such as mackerel (Shakila et al., 1996), carp roe (Krízek et al., 2011), and fermented anchovies (Mah and Hwang, 2009; Mah et al., 2009). Shakila et al. (1996) reported that cinnamon and clove greatly inhibit histidine decarboxylase activity of Morganella morganii and concentration of 3% is quite effective to control histamine content in mackerel. The use of 5% (weight basis) of garlic extract can reduce the overall formation of biogenic amines by up to 8.7%during ripening of Myeolchi-jeot, a Korean salted and fermented anchovy (Mah et al., 2009). Formation of histamine, putrescine and cadaverine by *Bacillus licheniformis*, a strong amines producer from *Myeolchi-jeot* are significantly inhibited by glycine (Mah and Hwang, 2009). The authors revealed that addition of glycine (5% w/w) could reduced up to 63% overall biogenic amines formation during ripening of *Myeolchi-jeot*, as compared to control. Kang and Park (1984) reported that inhibition of histamine formation and histidine decarboxylase activity in mackerel stored at 25 °C for 25 days could be achieved by the addition of accidulants such as citric acid, malic acid and succinic acid as well as D-sorbitol. Abu Bakar et al., (2008a) had observed the effect of several preservatives including sucrose, sodium chloride, sodium metabisulphite, lactic acid and boric acids on biogenic amines level of freshwater prawn (Macrobrachium renbergii) during storage at icing condition for 25 days. The authors revealed that histamine was not detected in any of preservatives treated samples except for controls. In addition, cadaverine was also not detected in prawn body region samples

treated with sodium metabisulphite, boric acid and lactic acid throughout storage.

The use of food additives might incur adverse effects to certain food products. Bover-Cid et al. (2001) investigated the effect of sodium sulphite on biogenic amines accumulation during the ripening of slightly fermented sausages. They revealed that although sausage with sulphite showed lower microbial counts, only cadaverine production was inhibited, resulted in a lower level as compared to sausage without sulphite (control). In contrast, considerably higher level of tyramine and putrescine were observed in the treated sausage and their formation seems to be stimulated by the presence of sodium sulphite (Bover-Cid et al., 2001). Addition of sodium sorbate and sodium hexametaphosphate resulted in the formation of putrefactive odor in sardine stored for 2 days at chill temperature (Kang and Park, 1984). Other drawbacks of additives and preservatives used for controlling biogenic amines in foods are uncertain mechanisms of the inhibition and the lack of consumer acceptance. Component of spices such as capsaicin (red pepper) and thymol (thyme and oregano) have unpleasant pungent flavor which may not be accepted as food additives by consumers (Lee et al., 2008; Someya et al., 2003).

Modified Atmosphere Packaging

Modified atmosphere packaging (MAP) combined with refrigeration has become a common packaging method in extending the shelf life of fish and its products (Del Nobile et al., 2009; Fagan et al., 2004; Genigeorgis, 1985; Torrieri et al., 2006). MAP is also a preferred method to control the formation of biogenic amines in fish products. Application of MAP is proven to be effective in controlling biogenic amines content during the storage of Atlantic herring (Ozogul et

al., 2002), tuna (Emborg et al., 2005), sardine (Ozogul and Ozogul, 2006) and garfish (Dalgaard et al., 2006).

Chong et al., (2012) had conducted a study to evaluate the effect of MAP on biogenic amines formation during chilled storage (5°C) of Indian mackerel. The beheaded and gutted samples were subjected to different conditions including air packaging as control (C), vacuum-packaging (VP) and modified atmosphere packaging (MAP) of $CO_2:N_2:O_2$ with ratio (in percentage) 30:65:5 (M30C), 60:35:5 (M60C), 80:15:5 (M80C) and 100:0:0 (M100C). Samples were then stored at chilled storage for 12 days. After storage, In general, MAP is effective in inhibiting biogenic amines concentration in Indian mackerel after chilled storage for 12 days. At the end of storage, histamine concentration was less 6.4%, 8.5%, 70.3%, 78.8% and 90.2% in samples treated with VP, M30C, M60C, M80C and M100C, respectively as compared to control samples that reached 430 ppm (Figure 10a). MAP exerts much greater effect in reducing putrescine content in mackerel. After 120 days of chill storage, putrescine concentration was less 71%, 79%, 81%, 90% and 94% in samples treated with VP, M30C, M60C, M80C and M100C, respectively as compared to control samples that reached 169 ppm (Figure 10b).

MAP also influences the accumulation of other amines content in different pattern. Although concentration of cadaverine is not significantly different among VP and MAP (all ratios) treated samples, the value was significantly lower than that in control samples that reached 182 ppm (Figure 10c). The effective way of MAP in inhibiting tyramine formation can only be achieved if CO2 concentration is above 60% (Figure 11a). Vacuum-packaging is not giving any inhibition effect on tyramine formation. At the end of storage, mackerel treated with M60C, M80C and M100C demonstrated lower tyramine levels of 30.54 ppm, 21.77 ppm

and 16.73 ppm, respectively. While, tyramine concentration in other treated samples are more 130 ppm. Chong et al., (2012) also observed the effect of MAP on spermine and spermidine in the samples. Spermidine content was lower in samples treated with VP and M30C than control samples (Figure 11b). Stronger inhibition of spermidine formation was observed in samples treated with CO2 at above 60%. Nevertheless, neither of VP nor MAP treatments were exhibited inhibition effect of spermine (Figure 11c). In addition to inhibit biogenic amines formation, MAP also effective to prolong the shelf life of Indian mackerel stored at chill temperature and samples treated with that method shows better appearance compared to other samples (Figure 12).





Figure 10 Changes in histamine (a), putrescine (b) and cadaverine (c) levels in Indian mackerel packed with air (C), vacuum packaging (VP) and modified atmosphere packaging (MAP) throughout 12 d of chilling storage (5°C)



Figure 11 Changes in tyramine (a), spermidine (b) and spermine (c) levels in Indian mackerel packed with air (C), vacuum packaging (VP) and modified atmosphere packaging (MAP) throughout 12 d of chilling storage (5°C)



Figure 12 Appearance of beheaded and gutted Indian mackerel treated with vacuum packaging and modified packaging after stored at 5°C for 12 days

Inhibition of histamine formation was achieved when MAP with a gas composition of 40% $CO_2/60\%$ O_2 was applied to tuna stored for 28 days at 2 °C (Velu et al., 2013; Emborg et al., 2005). Dalgaard et al. (2006) also reported that MAP with a gas composition of 40% $CO_2/60\%$ N_2) exhibits a synergistic effect with

freezing and thawing in controlling histamine formation in garfish. When the garfish was frozen, thawed and stored at 5 °C, the shelf life was 70% longer under the MAP gas mixture than storage in air. The histamine formation was also reduced with that particular condition (Velu et al., 2013). The authors stated that the reduction of histamine in MAP treated samples was due to the growth inhibition of Photobacterium phosphoreum and Morganella morganii, which are identified as strong histamine producers. Active packaging using oxygen scavengers are also used to reduce biogenic amines formation in seer fish (Mohan et al., 2009). Mohan et al. (2009) found that biogenic amines formation in seer fish steak increase with the presence of oxygen, but biogenic amines in the fish were lower when oxygen (99%) was removed by O₂ scavenger. The shelf life of seer fish was also extended from 12 (in air) to 20 days. Many biogenic amines producing enzymes are more active under aerobic condition, although some of them are capable to decarboxylaze amino acids in the absence of oxygen (Halasz et al., 1994). Several anaerobic bacteria are known as biogenic amines producers. Thus, the effectiveness of MAP in inhibiting biogenic amines formation is principally dependent on the type of microbial flora and their environmental condition such as temperature and the composition of gas used in the packaging.

Non-producing Amines Starter Culture

Biogenic amines content in fermented foods is usually higher than other foods since most of starter cultures used for fermentation possess amino acid decarboxylase. Thus, the use of non-producing amines starter cultures is thought to be effective to inhibit or delay the formation of biogenic amines in fermented foods. This technique has been applied in the fermentation of meat sausage (Bover-Cid et al., 1999; Gençcelep et al., 2007; Komprda et al., 2001; Lu et al.,

2010; Sara et al., 2000), fish sausage (Hu et al., 2007), sauerkraut (Kalac et al., 2000; Spicka et al., 2002) and cheese (Fernandes-Garcia et al., 2000; Nieto-Arribas et al., 2009). Sara et al. (2000) found that sausage treated with *Lactobacillus sakei* CTC494 (a non decarboxylating strain) as starter culture exhibit remarkably lower tyramine content as compared to the control. The culture also notably limits the formation of putrescine and cadaverine. Formation of tyramine, putrescine and cadaverine in sauerkraut can also be suppressed by the inoculation of non producing amines *Lactobacillus plantarum* during fermentation (Kalac et al., 2000). Histamine degrading *Staphylococcus carnosus* FS19 was also found as non histamine, putrescine and cadaverine producers (Zaman et al., 2010).

Non-producing amines bacteria were also applied as combined cultures and their synergistic effect to inhibit amines formation was observed. Genccelep et al. (2007) investigated the effect of starter culture A (Lactobacillus sakei and Staphylococcus carnosus) and B (Pediococcus acidilactici, Staphylococcus xylosus and Lactobacillus curvatus) on biogenic amines formation in sucuk, Turkish dry fermented sausage. They found that sucuk produced through fermentation with either starter culture A or B has significantly lower histamine, putrescine and cadaverine and tyramine content as compared to the natural fermentation (without starter culture). Various combination of Staphylococcus xylosus with some lactic acid bacteria include Lactobacillus plantarum, Lactobacillus casei subsp. casei and Pediococcus acidilactici were also found to suppressed accumulation of histamine, putrescine, cadaverine, tyramine and tryptamine content in silver carp sausages (Hu et al., 2007). The use of bacteriocin producing bacteria can also decrease biogenic amines content in foods. Histamine was not found in cheese with bacteriocin producing starter compared with

200 ppm in control cheese (without bacteriocin) after 4 months of ripening (Joosten and Nunez, 1996). Moreover, Halasz et al. (1994) reported that inoculation of *Lactobacillus curvatus* as a starter culture in cabbage at the range of 5×10^6 to 2×10^7 cfu/g resulted in notably lower concentration of tyramine as compared to natural fermentation of sauerkraut.

Application of negative amines producer starter culture may be effective only when optimal growth condition of cultures are achieved, and thus they can dominate over biogenic amines producing and contaminant bacteria (Hu et al., 2007; Lu et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2010). Lu et al. (2010) reported that mixed starter culture *Lactobacillus farciminis* and *Staphylococcus saprophyticus* were dominate microbial flora and inhibited indigenous biogenic amines producing bacteria during sausage fermentation, and thus reduced the level of histamine, putrescine, cadaverine, phenylethylamine, and tyramine. The use of starter cultures decreased the pH quickly; enable the inhibiting effect to the growth of amines producing bacteria (Hu et al., 2007).

Application of Biogenic Amines Degrading Bacteria Biogenic Amines Degrading Bacteria

Biogenic amines can be degraded through the oxidative deamination process catalyzed by amine oxidases with production of aldehydes, ammonia and hydrogen peroxide. A typical reaction of amines degradation (Ishizuka et al., 1993; Murooka et al., 1979; Yamashita et al., 1993) is following to the equivalence below:

 $R-CH_2-NH-R'+O_2+H_2O \rightarrow R-CHO+H_2N-R'+H_2O_2$

The formed aldehydes are then oxidized to form corresponding acid, catalyzed by aldehyde dehydrogenase (Teti et al., 2002). Medina et al. (2003) revealed that based on the cofactor attached,

amine oxidases can be differentiated into two main groups. One group has flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) and includes both monoamine oxidase (MAO), and polyamine oxidase (PAO). The other group has one or more carbonyl groups, which appears to be topaquinone (TPQ), usually called copper containing semicarbazide sensitive amine oxidases (SSAO) and include diamine oxidases (DAO), cell surface and soluble SSAO and extracellular lysyloxidase (Medina et al., 2003).

Amines oxidase is ubiquitous and plays an important role in the metabolism of biogenic amines in human, plant and animal cells. Many bacterial strains have been recognized to exhibit amines oxidase activities (Cuskey and Olsen, 1988; Dapkevicius et al., 2000; Ishizuka et al., 1993; Leuschner and Hammes, 1998; Leuschner et al., 1998; Martuscelli et al., 2000; Murooka et al., 1979; Parrot et al., 1987; Yamashita et al., 1993; Zaman et al., 2010). Table 2 show biogenic amines degrading activity by bacteria isolated from foods. Amine dehydrogenase activity was also found in extremely halophilic archaea Natrinema gari isolated from fish sauce (Tapingkae et al., 2010a; Tapingkae et al., 2010b). While a thermostable histamine oxidase was observed in cells of Arthrobacter crystallopoietes KAIT-B-007 isolated from soil (Sekiguchi et al., 2004). Instead of amine oxidase, some bacterial strains of Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Pseudomonas putida and the methylotroph Paracoccus versutus used amine dehydrogenase to oxidaze amines (Hacisalihoglu et al., 1997). Biogenic amines degradation was influenced by environmental condition such as pH, temperature and salt concentration. Zaman (2011) revealed that although histamine degradation by Staphylococcus carnosus FS19 was occurred at a wide range of condition, its optimal degradation was observed pH 6, salt 9% and temperature 40 °C. Parrott et al. (1987) revealed that the growth of bacteria can be supported by

acids and ammonia which are produced during the sequential action of amine oxidase and aldehyde dehydrogenase in the presence of electron acceptor such as oxygen. Therefore, amine degradation was thought to be restricted only to aerobic microorganisms (Leuschner et al., 1998). Nevertheless, fermentative degradation of putrescine was observed at strictly anaerobic isolates from various anoxic sediment samples, which resembles to *Acetobacterium woodii*, *Clostridium barkeri* and *Eubacterium limosum* (Matthies et al., 1989). The utilization rate of primary amines as a carbon and energy source was varied among microorganisms (Hacisalihoglu et al., 1997).

Murookaa et al. (1979) found membrane bound monoamines oxidase in some strains of the family *Enterobacteriaceae* such as *Klebsiella*, *Enterobacter*, *Escherichia*, *Proteus*, *Salmonella*, and *Serratia*, as well as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* IFO 3901, *Micrococcus luteus* IFO 12708 and *Brevibacterium ammoniagenes* IAM 1641. They revealed that the amine oxidases of those bacteria are highly specific for tyramine, octopamine, dopamine, and norephinephrine. Parrot et al. (1987) reported that the catabolism of 2-phenylethylamine by *Escherichia coli* K12 is occurred by conversion of 2-phenylethylamine via pehnylacetaldehyde to phenylacetic acid. They revealed that phenylacetaldehyde was formed by the action of inducible amine oxidase. While the flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) containing putrescine oxidase was found in *Micrococcus rubens* (Ishizuka et al., 1993).

Bacterial Strains	His (%)	Tym (%)	Put (%)	Cad (%)	Incubation	Reference
Lactobacillus sakei 15.05	56.2		nd	pu	30 h 30 °C	1
Staphylococcus xylosus S206	92.6	30.1	pu	pu	48 h 30 °C	2
Staphylococcus xylosus S79	68.1	19.9	pu	nd	48 h 30 °C	2
Micrococcus varians LTH 1540	ı	99.2	nd	nd	24 h 30 °C	3
Micrococcus varians LTH 1534	36.8	36.9	nd	pu	24 h 30 °C	3
Brevibacterium linens LTH 3809	98.7	47.4	nd	nd	24 h 30 °C	3
Staphylococcus xylosus 0538	38.1	4.4	nd	nd	24 h 30 °C	4
Bacillus coagulans 1051	34.2	ı	pu	pu	24 h 30 °C	4
Bacillus amyloliquefaciens	59.9	pu	7.5	26.4	24 h 37 °C	5

I

Fatimah Abu Bakar

Staphylococcus carnosus	29.1	pu	7.8	8.4	24 h 37 °C	5	1
Staphylococcus condiment FS22	27.4	nd	4.4	6.8	24 h 37 °C	5	
Bacillus humi FS13	32.8	pu	14.8	23.9	24 h 37 °C	5	
Staphylococcus intermedius FS20	10.8	pu	30.4	28.0	24 h 37 °C	5	
¹ Dapkevicius et al. (2000), ² M	lartuscelli et al. (2	000), ³ Leuschner	et al. (1998), ⁴ Ma	h and Hwang (2	009). ⁵ Zaman et al. (20	10)	

Application of Amines Degrading Bacteria in Seafood

Leuschner et al. (1998) have investigated the potential role of microorganisms involved in food fermentation to degrade histamine and tyramine. They include bacteria that belong to the genera Lactobacillus, Micrococcus and Arthrobacter as well as to the species *Pediococcus acidilactici*, *Brevibacterium linens*, Geotrichum candidum and Staphylococcus carnosus. Some tested strains were reported to have histamine and tyramine oxidase at different activity level. They found that Micrococcus varians LTH 1540 exhibited the highest tyramine acitivy, at which degraded 100% of tyramine in a buffer system within 24 h at 30 °C. Optimal tyramine degradation activity of resting cells Micrococcus varians LTH 1540 was observed at pH 7 at 37-40 °C. The presence of salt as well as glucose and hydralazine inhibited the enzyme activity. On the contrary, histamine degradation activity of *Natrinema gari* BCC 24369 was observed at salt concentration of 4.0-5.0M, pH of 6.5-7.5 and temperature of 40-55 °C (Tapingkae et al., 2010a).

Dapkevicius et al. (2000) also found that the degradation of histamine by diamine oxidase (DAO) was temperature dependent. Although the degradation rate of this amine was still considerable at 15 and 22 °C, but the highest rate was observed at 37°C. They also reported that five strains of *Lactobacillus sakei* could degrade histamine as much as 20-56% in a model system within 30 hours. Several strains of *Staphylococcus xylosus* isolated from sausages were also exhibited the ability to degrade histamine and tyramine in 0.05 M phosphate buffer at pH 7 (Martuscelli et al., 2000). *Staphylococcus xylosus* S81 was observed to degrade 100% of histamine, although it could only degrade 11.0% of tyramine under the same condition. However they also found that *Staphylococcus xylosus* S142 could degrade tyramine by 63% and histamine by

47% in the same buffer medium from their initial concentration after incubation for 48 h at 37°C (Martuscelli et al., 2000).

Zaman et al. (2011) have conducted as study to investigate effect of amines degrading bacteria on biogenic amines accumulation during fish sauce fermentation. In their study, they used Staphylococcus carnosus FS19 and Bacillus amyloliquefaciens FS05 as starter culture. Both bacteria were isolated from fish sauce and found to be histamine degrader (Zaman et al., 2010). Fermentation was held at controlled temperature (35 °C), which is almost similar to the average temperature in most manufacturing site in northeastern region of Malaysia (Figure 13). The authors found that concentration of histamine, putrescine, cadaverine and tyramine increased throughout fermentation (Figure 14, 15, 16, 17). The increase was progressive during the first 20 days of fermentation. However, after 120 days fermentation, histamine concentration was 27.7% and 15.4% less in samples inoculated with *Staphylococcus* carnosus FS19 and Bacillus amyloliquefaciens FS05, respectively, as compared to control samples. This has proven that both cultures could reduce histamine accumulation. Presumably, no other factors might be taken into consideration as factors responsible for histamine degradation during fermentation. It should be noted that histamine is quite resistant to degradation once it is formed in food products. Heat treatment such as autoclaving was found to be not effective to degrade histamine and other amines (Luten et al., 1992).



Figure 13 Fermentation of fish sauce with amines degrading starter culture in laboratory of microbiological food safety, UPM



Figure 14 Histamine concentration of fish sauce during fermentation at 35°C for 120 days. ♦: treated with *Staphylococcus carnosus* (FS19), ●: treated with *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* (FS05), ■: without treatment (control). Points at the same fermentation time marked with different letters are significantly different (p<0.05)</p>



Figure 15 Putrescine concentration of fish sauce during fermentation at 35°C for 120 days. ◆: treated with *Staphylococcus carnosus* (FS19),
•: treated with *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* (FS05), ■: without treatment (control). Points at the same fermentation time marked with different letters are significantly different (p<0.05)



Figure 16 Cadaverine concentration of fish sauce during fermentation at 35°C for 120 days. ♦: treated with *Staphylococcus carnosus* (FS19),
•: treated with *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* (FS05), ■: without treatment (control). Points at the same fermentation time marked with different letters are significantly different (p<0.05)





Figure 17 Tyramine concentration of fish sauce during fermentation at 35°C for 120 days. ♦: treated with *Staphylococcus carnosus* (FS19), ●: treated with *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* (FS05), ■: without treatment (control). Points at the same fermentation time marked with different letters are significantly different (p<0.05)

The authors had also observed that degrading ability of both cultures are different in buffer system and food complex system. In their previous study, Zaman et al. (2010) observed that *Staphylococcus carnosus* FS19 and *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* FS05 exhibited the ability to degrade 29.1% and 59.9% of histamine in a buffer system, respectively. However, when applied to fish sauce, *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* FS05 showed lower histamine degradation activity. The authors suggested that it could be due to the fact that the histamine degrading enzyme of *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* FS05 less adapted to complex substances in fish sauce; also the bacteria has to compete for survival with indigenous bacterial flora during fermentation. Some species of bacteria (possibly the starter culture) could stop growing when other bacterial species or group reaches it maximum population density

in a particular time (Ross, 2008). Nevertheless, *Staphylococcus carnosus* FS19 showed a better tolerance to fish sauce fermentation system as evidenced by its ability to retain the degradation activity close to that in a buffered system.

Biogenic amines	Staphylococcus carnosus FS19		Bacillus amyloliquefaciens FS05	
	Buffer system ^a	Fish sauce ^b	Buffer system	Fish sauce
Histamine	29.1 %	27.7 %	59.9%	15.4%
Putrescine	7.8 %	10.2 %	7.5%	13.5%
Cadaverine	8.4 %	6.2 %	26.4%	11.6%
Tyramine	nd	22.4 %	nd	10.9%
Overall ^c	nd	15.9%	nd	12.5%

Table 3 Percentage of biogenic amine degradation by Staphylococcuscarnosus FS19 and Bacillus amyloliquefaciens FS05 in buffer systemand fish sauce sample

nd: not determined.^a: phosphate buffer system at pH 7.0, ^b: percentage of degradation was calculated from the data presented in Figure 14-17, ^c: total amines (histamine, putrescine, cadaverine and tyramine).

Futhermore, the use of starter culture reduced the overall amines concentration in fish sauce (Table 3). After 120 days of fermentation, the overall biogenic amines concentration was 15.9% and 12.5% less in samples inoculated with *Staphylococcus carnosus* FS19 and *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* FS05, respectively, as compared to control samples. Mah and Hwang (2009) reported in their study that *Staphylococcus xylosus* which was applied as a protective culture in a salted and fermented anchovy could reduce overall amines by 16.0% as compared to the control. Other researchers also reported a reduction of biogenic amines concentration in other

food products (Kalac et al., 2000; Leuschner and Hammes, 1998). The study emphasized that application of starter cultures which possess amines oxidase enzyme in food fermentation is effective in inhibiting biogenic amines accumulation.

RAPID METHODS OF DETERMINATION FOR CONTAMINANTS IN SEAFOOD

Health issues regarding these chemicals prompted the Malaysian Authority under the Ministry of Agriculture, Ministry of Health and other relevant agencies to monitor the presence of these contaminants in our processed muscle foods throughout the country for this decade. However, the inconsistency in the final results and methodology used posed the greatest problem thus far.

The rapid detection of pathogens and other chemical contaminants in food is critical for ensuring the safety of consumers. Traditional methods to detect foodborne contaminants often rely on time-consuming procedures, followed by tedious biochemical protocols, and sometimes serological techniques. Recent advances in technology make detection and quantification faster, more convenient, more sensitive, and more specific than conventional assays (Shafiquzzaman et al., 2012).

The development of rapid methods is probably one of the promising ways to solve some problems concerning sensitive, fast and inexpensive measurements for medicine, biotechnology and environmental monitoring purposes. The scope of this study is focused on processed muscle foods. Through this study, it is hoped that the analytical reports on fast and reliable detection of the presence of microbes, contaminants and prohibited chemicals in muscle foods commodity analyzed can draw the attention of the authorities regarding the related issues for the sake of public's health safety (Sabah et al., 2011).

Advent of biotechnology has greatly altered food testing methods. Improvements in the field of immunology, molecular biology, automation and computer technology continue to have a positive effect on the development of faster, more sensitive and more convenient methods in food safety. Rapid detection techniques continuing to advance at a great pace, the next generation of assays currently being developed potentially has the capability for near real time and online monitoring of multiple pathogens (Shafiquzzaman et al., 2011). Modern methods are based on molecular biology techniques like PCR, RFLP, DNA microarray assay, immunological techniques like ELISA, biophysical and biochemical principles with the application of biosensors like bioluminescence sensor, bio-analytical sensors utilizing enzymes, electrical impedometry and flow cytometry (Hisham et al., 2011).

Development of Enzyme-based Biosensor Technology for Detection of Contaminants in Seafoods

Histamine

The *in vitro* determination of histamine level in seafood products is normally by chromatography analysis, which sometimes requires toxic reagents, expensive instrumentation and not practical for *in situ* analysis due to complex sample treatment and the requirement of trained personnel. Amperometric sensors based on screenprinted electrodes allow the production of simple, inexpensive and portable devices for rapid determination of freshness and spoilage in seafood products in the field (Ching et al., 2007). In this study, an amperometric histamine biosensor was developed based on immobilizing the enzyme diamine oxidase (DAO) in a photocured poly(2-hydroxyl ethyl methacrylate)-film directly deposited on a screen-printed carbon paste electrode. The use of direct photocuring

enable a simple fabrication procedure for constructing a histamine biosensor to be used in rapid analysis of histamine, a substance related to the freshness and spoilage in seafood products. The study also involved in the evaluation of the enzyme immobilization characteristics and the electrochemical behaviour of the screenprinted histamine biosensors (Ching et al., 2012). Two types of screen-printed histamine biosensors were evaluated, i.e. the screen-printed working electrode alone and a biosensor consisted of screen-printed working, counter and reference electrodes (allscreen-printed biosensor). The use of potassium hexacyanoferrate (III) as a possible mediator to improve the response of the all-screenprinted histamine biosensor was also examined.



Figure 18 Immobilization of DAO on top of carbon paste screenprinted electrode (SPE) with active area of 4 mm²



Figure 19 Modified SPE from SPE Electro deposited of potassium hexacyanoferatte on the surface of working electrode. With silver basal track for 3 electrodes:

- RE = Ag/AgCI
- CE = Carbon paste
- WE = Working Electrode

The histamine sensitive membrane with immobilized DAO, after this device used for determination histamine in tiger prawns. The histamine biosensor showed a good reproducibility and repeatability. Due to the simplicity in preparation of these ferrocenecontaining films, photolithography technique can thus be applied to the fabrication of various reagentless biosensors (Ching et al, 2012). Thus, a rapid progress in biosensor technology is needed to contribute to the availability of inexpensive, accurate and simple techniques for the monitoring of toxic compounds in food and the environment (Helmi et al., 2012).

Formaldehyde

Formaldehyde is widely used in food processing for its bleaching effect and also as preservative in order to prevent the product from spoilage by microbial contamination. Formaldehyde was used as a preservative in dried foods, fish and certain oils and fats, disinfections for containers as well as modifying starch for cold swelling. It is sometimes added inappropriately in food processing for its preserving and bleaching effects such as dried foods, vermicelli, tripe and chicken paws. It is also found in cheese as bacteriostatic agent. In the sugar industry, it is added while producing juices as infection inhibitor. Nowadays, the safety and quality of seafood has arose much public attention. Before putting on shelf, seafood is firstly dipped in formaldehyde-water solution for a period of time by dishonest mongers, in order to prevent from spoiling and to increase the storage time (Nur Indang et al., 2009).

The seafood dipped with formaldehyde is a big danger to the physical health of consumer. Besides, it also used as such as herring and caviar. Due to this issue, voices have to protest to the practice of such chemical in foods. Even though chemical treatment is helpful in controlling spoilage on fish, these chemicals brought about the negative adverse effects upon human consumption, yet such issue is still under controversy. Since formaldehyde can cause adverse effect to human health, they are prohibited under the Food Regulation 1985. Although regulation has been enforced but still there are reports that revealed the practice of such prohibited chemicals in food. Formaldehyde is classified as a mutagen and possible human carcinogen being proved by experiments on microorganisms (mutagenic effect), mice and rats (induction of cancer). Recently, formaldehyde has been described as one of the chemical mediators of apoptosis (Norliana et al., 2009).

Formaldehyde is classified as a potential human carcinogen. It has often been abusely used as a preservative in food industries but it is also produced naturally in fish by postmortem enzymatic reaction (Noordiana et al., 2011). The level of formaldehyde was studied in 20 species of seafood bought from local wet markets. Several species of fish were selected to evaluate the inherent level of formaldehyde produced during storage at frozen (-20 °C), iced and ambient storage using Nash method. Among the 20 species of fish bought from the local wet markets, only lizardfish (Saurida micropectoralis) contained highest level of formaldehyde. Therefore, only lizardfish (Saurida micropectoralis) and Indian mackerel (Rastrelliger kanagurta) were selected for storage study. There was no significant changes (p < 0.05) of formaldehyde levels observed for Indian Mackerel. However, for lizardfish, the formaldehyde level was decreased during ambient temperature and iced storage but it increased during frozen storage (p<0.05) (Norliana et al., 2009).

The determination of formaldehyde in foods especially fish and seafood required a fast, simple and sensitive method than the conventional methods which have many disadvantages such as time consuming, suffered of toxic reagent (acetylacetone, trichloroacetic acid, 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine) as well as easily interrupted by various interferences (methanol, aldehyde, ethanol) (Nur Indang et al., 2009). Methods such as Nash, HPLC, gas chromatography and fluorescence have been used before. In these methods have many disadvantages which involved the usages of toxic reagent in the procedure, suffer a lot of interference, time-consuming, expensive and required well-train operator (Nur Indang et al., 2012a). In this article, the developed formaldehyde biosensor was used to monitor the formaldehyde redox behaviour by performing cyclic voltammetry and differential pulse voltammetry (DPV) method.

Formaldehyde dehydrogenase NAD+ was used as the biorecogniton receptor in the system. The determination of formaldehyde based on some parameters such as the effect of pH, scan rate, multiple cycling, response ranges using immobilized enzyme, repeatability, reproducibility, storage stability, interferences and validity.

The developed formaldehyde biosensor used with free form enzyme and immobilized in Nafion polymer due to improve its stability and then deposited on the gold electrode. Both condition yielded current changes which is correlated with the concentration of substrate. Using free enzyme, the peak's potential reduction of NAD+ has found at -0.2 V. A limit of detection is 0.016 ppm of formaldehyde in aqueous solution and a response time less than 1 min. It also showed a high reproducibility, repeatability, storage stability and interferences for the determination of formaldehyde in fish sample. Product of the innovation is Rapid method for the determination of formaldehyde in fish and fish products at levels of 0.1 to 20 ppm using an enzyme formaldehyde dehydrogenasebased biosensor (Nur Indang et al., 2012b).

The newly formaldehyde biosensor developed by Nur Indang et al., (2012b) was based on coupling the enzyme (*nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide*, NAD+) and formaldehyde dehydrogenase (FDH) for the detection of formaldehyde in fish samples. To maximize the reaction rate, the enzyme acts as biorecognition immobilized with Nafion membrane which chemically modified on gold electrode. The enzyme required nicotinamide adenide dinucleotide (NAD+) as a cofactor which then reduced to NADH during enzymatic reaction. In the system, 0.1 M of potassium phosphate was used as the supporting electrolyte and 0.5 mM of NAD+ was added as the coenzyme. The optimum scan rate was found at 0.1 V/s while the optimum pH was at 8 via cyclic voltammetry. A linear response was ranged from 1 to 10 ppm of

formaldehyde, with correlation coefficient (R2) equals to 0.9865 (RSD < 3.05%). The response time was found less than 1 min. Formaldehyde biosensor showed reproducibility with no significant different (p > 0.05) at 1, 5 and 10 ppm of formaldehyde (n = 10). For interferences study, it was showed that the biosensor response retained its specificity for formaldehyde and did not respond to equivalent additions of methanol and also ethanol and gave the percentage of formaldehyde biosensor is a promising tool and has a potential application for simple, fast, reusability, reproducibility, sensitivity, storage stability, validity, interferences and convenient method for the determination of formaldehyde in fish samples.



Figure 20 The laboratory instrumentation used for the development of enzyme-based biosensor for the determination of formaldehyde in fish



Figure 21 The development of pre-commercialised enzyme-based biosensor for the detection of formaldehyde in fish

THE WAY FORWARD

Considering national food production systems, it is recommended that food safety should be considered using a food safety management systems approach, for example hazard analysis and critical control point (HACCP) and as part of this Good Agricultural Practice and Good Manufacturing Practice. It is considered important to identify the main food safety hazards, where they occur in the food production and marketing chain and their potential risk to consumer health. A multi-disciplinary approach to hazard identification, based on risk assessment, has always been proposed. This should include collection of data on occurrence of food hazards (for example, pathogens), and the conditions and handling practices that lead to their presence in food systems. To support the case for

further investment in food safety interventions it is suggested that there is a need to calculate the potential economic value resulting from improved food safety and consumer health.

It was always considered important that education in food safety should be addressed throughout society, for example in schools, households, work place and in food processing and catering businesses.

Urbanisation can lead to environmental changes which can in their turn affect food systems which can rapidly evolve in an unregulated situation. Food quality and safety in particular may be affected. Food consumption habits and food demand may also change as a result of urbanisation. However, little is known or documented about this in many nations. It is useful to determine consumer perceptions, barriers and responses to emerging new foods. This information can help with the development of food supply and catering businesses that can adapt in response to changing pattern of urbanisation. Needs assessment must be used to inform research and consumer reaction must be taken into consideration before products are promoted.

It is suggested that there is a need to define appropriate food safety legislation, which respond to both global and domestic challenges. Access to information on international food standards was considered difficult for many individuals and organisations in this region. Enforcement of food standards was an issue as there may be limited resources for inspection, enforcement, and access to accredited laboratories that provide reliable food safety information. Sensitisation of consumers and food handlers about food safety is important. The informal food processing sector (for example, street food vendors) should receive specific attention with respect to legislation since it provides a significant proportion of food consumed in many places. Coordination between local authorities
and food standards and regulatory bodies was considered necessary. In support of the required regulatory framework, it is important to ensure that staffs are trained and that their working conditions are sufficient to reduce the risk of corruption.

- The importance of food safety issues on livelihoods and consumer health needs to be higher on the political agenda of the country.
- Food safety management systems in this country need to be able to respond to both global and domestic challenges
- There is a need to identify food safety hazards of main concern to consumer health and livelihoods and where they occur on the food chain. It was recommended that a multidisciplinary approach based on the HACCP system be used.
- There is a need to quantify potential economic benefits resulting from improvements in food safety and consumer health.
- Appropriate food safety legislation needs to be introduced in consultation with all players in the food production, processing, processing and catering sectors.
- There is a need for national food safety control systems which can be supported by appropriate food laws, enforcement and support (for example accredited laboratories).
- Consumers, food handlers and processors need to be educated in food safety issues. Food inspectors need appropriate training so that they can contribute effectively.
- It is necessary to form and/or strengthen consumers' associations and integrate them at both local and international levels
- There is need to develop appropriate evaluation procedures for food safety hazards through provision of accredited analytical laboratories.

- The rapid detection of pathogens and other chemical contaminants in food is critical for ensuring the safety of consumers. Due to their widespread use and potential health hazards, it is important for us to be able to monitor their presence, even at very low level (ng/mL level) in the agricultural products.
- Lastly, technology continues to advance at a great pace and next generation assays, such as biosensors and DNA chips already are being developed that potentially have the capability for near real-time and on-line monitoring of multiple pathogens and contaminants in processed foods.

REFERENCES

- Abu Bakar, F. and Motohiro, T. (1996). Microbiology of freshwater prawn. Japan International Journal of Food Science and Technology, 15(3), 234-239.
- Abu Bakar, F. (1997) Effectiveness of different chemical preservatives on preventing melanosis in prawn. *ASEAN Food Journal*, *12*(1), 155-157.
- Abu Bakar, F. (2001). Microbiological and biochemical changes of freshwater prawns (*Macrobrachium rosenbergii*) during storage. PhD Thesis (Unpublished). Universiti Putra Malaysia. Malaysia.
- Abu Bakar, F., Salleh, A.B., Razak, C.N. Basri, A., Ching, M.K. and Son, R. (2008a). Biochemical changes of fresh and preserved freshwater prawns (*Macrobrachium rosenbergii*) during storage. *International Food research Journal*, 15(2), 183-193.
- Abu Bakar, F., Salleh, A.B., Razak, C.N., Basri, A., Ching, M.K. and Son, R. (2008b). Microbiological changes of freshwater prawns (*Macrobrachium rosenbergii*) during storage. *International Food research Journal*, 15(3), 95-106.
- Alberto, M.R., Arena, M.E., and Manca de Nadra, M.C. (2007). Putrescine production from agmatine by *Lactobacillus hilgardii*: Effect of phenolic compounds. *Food Control*, 18(8), 898-903.

- Bover-Cid, S., Miguélez-Arrizado, M.J., and Vidal-Carou, M.C. (2001). Biogenic amine accumulation in ripened sausages affected by the addition of sodium sulphite. *Meat Science*, 59(4), 391-396.
- Bover-Cid, S., Izquierdo-Pulido, M., and Vidal-Carou, M.C. (1999). Effect of proteolytic starter cultures of *Staphylococcus* spp. on biogenic amine formation during the ripening of dry fermented sausages. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 46(2), 95-104.
- Brilliantes, S., and Samosorn, W. (2001). Determination of histamine in fish sauce from Thailand using a solid phase extraction and high performance liquid chromatography. *Fisheries Science*, 67, 1163-1168.
- Brink, B.T., Damink, C., Joosten, H.M.L.J., and Huis in't Velt, J.H.J. (1990). Occurrence and formation of biologically active amine in food. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 11, 73-84.
- Capozzi, V., Ladero, V., Beneduce, L., Fernández, M., Alvarez, M.A., Benoit, B., Laurent, B., Grieco, F., and Spano, G. (2011). Isolation and characterization of tyramine-producing *Enterococcus faecium* strains from red wine. *Food Microbiology*, 28, 434-439.
- Chai L.C., Robin, T., Usha M.R., Jurin W.G., Abu Bakar, F., Farinazleen, M.G., Radu, S., and Pradeep, M.K. (2007). Thermophilic *Campylobacter* spp. In salad vegetables in Malaysia. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. 117, 106-111.
- Chai, L.C., Lee, H.Y., Abu Bakar, F., Ghazali, F.M., Malakar, P.M., Nakaguchi, Y., Nishibuchi, M., and Son, R. (2008). Simulation of cross-contamination and decontamination of *Campylobacter jejuni* during handling of contaminated raw vegetables in a domestic kitchen. *Journal. of Food Protection.* 71(12), 2448-2452.
- Ching, M.K., Abu Bakar, F., Salleh, A.B., Lee, Y.H., Wagiran, R., and Low, S.B. (2007). An Amperometric biosensor for rapid determination of histamine level in tiger prawns (*Penaeus monodon*) during spoilage. *Food Chemistry*, 105, 1636-1641.
- Ching, M.K., Abu Bakar, F., Salleh, A.B., Lee, Y.H., Wagiran, R., and Siddiquee, S. (2012). Screen-printed histamine biosensors fabricated from the entrapment of diamine oxidase in a photocured poly(HEMA) film. *International Journal of Electrochemical Science*, 7(5), 4702-4715.

- Chong, C.Y. (2012). Biogenic amine and microfloral profiling of Indian mackerel (*Rastrellinger kanagurta* Cuvier) during storage. PhD Thesis (Unpublished). Universiti Putra Malaysia. Malaysia.
- Chong, C.Y., Abu Bakar, F., Russly, A.R., Jamilah, B., and Mahyudin, N.A. (2011). The effects of food processing on biogenic amines formation. *International Food Research Journal*, 18(3), 867-876.
- Chong, C.Y., Abu Bakar, F., Russly, A.R., Jamilah, B., and Zaman, M.Z. (2012). Biogenic amines, amino acids and microflora changes in Indian mackerel (*Rastrellinger kanagurta*) stored at ambient (25-29°C) and ice temperature (0°C). *Journal of Food Science and Technology*. DOI: 10.1007/s13197-012-0621-3 (In Press).
- Coton, E., and Coton, M. (2009). Evidence of horizontal transfer as origin of strain to strain variation of the tyramine production trait in *Lactobacillus brevis*. *Food Microbiology*, *26*, 52-57.
- Cuskey, S.M., and Olsen, R.H. (1988). Catabolism of aromatic biogenic amines by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 via meta cleavage of homoproto catechuic acid. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 170(1), 393-399.
- Dalgaard, P., Madsen, H.L., Samieian, N., and Emborg, J. (2006). Biogenic amines formation and microbial spoilage in chilled garfish (*Belone belone belone*) effect of modified atmosphere packaging and previous frozen storage. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 101, 80-95.
- Dapkevicius, M.L.N.E., Nout, M.J.R., Rombouts, F.M., Houben, J.H., and Wymenga, W. (2000). Biogenic amine formation and degradation by potential fish silage starter microorganisms. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 57(1-2), 107-114.
- Del Nobile, M.A., Corbo, M.R., Speranza, B., Sinigaglia, M., Conte, A., and Caroprese, M. (2009). Combined effect of MAP and active compounds on fresh blue fish burger. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 135(3), 281-287.
- Eitenmiller, R., Orr, J., and Wallis, W. (1980). Histamine formation in fish: Microbiological and biochemical conditions. In R. Martin (Ed.), *Chemistry and Biochemistry of Marine food products* (pp. 39-50). Connecticut: AVI.

- Emborg, J., Dalgaard, P., and Ahrens, P. (2006). Morganella psychrotolerans sp. nov., a histamine producing bacterium isolated from various seafoods. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 56, 2473-2479.
- Emborg, J., Laursen, B.G., and Dalgaard, P. (2005). Significant histamine formation in tuna (*Thunnus albacares*) at 2 °C: effect of vacuum and modified atmosphere packaging on psychrotolerant bacteria. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 101, 263-279.
- Fagan, J.D., Gormley, T.R., and Uí Mhuircheartaigh, M. M. (2004). Effect of modified atmosphere packaging with freeze-chilling on some quality parameters of raw whiting, mackerel and salmon portions. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 5(2), 205-214.
- Feng Kung, H., Chien, L.T., H.J.,L., Lin, C.S., Liaw, E.T., Chen, W.C., et al. (2008). Chemical characterization and histamine forming bacteria in salted mullet roe products. *Food Chemistry*, 110, 480-485.
- Feng Kung, H., Lee, Y.H., Teng, D.F., Hsieh, P.C., Wei, C.I., and Tsai, Y.H. (2006). Histamine formation by histamine forming bacteria and yeast in mustard pickle products in Taiwan. *Food Chemistry*, 99, 579-585.
- Fernandes-Garcia, E., Tomillo, J., and Nunez, M. (2000). Formation of biogenic amines in raw milk Hispanico cheese manufactured with proteinases and different levels of starter culture. *Journal of Food Protection, 63*, 1551-1555.
- Gardini, F., Martuscelli, M., Caruso, M.C., Galgano, F., Crudele, M.A., Favati, F., et al. (2001). Effect of pH, temperature, and NaCl concentration on the growth kinetic, proteolytic activity, and biogenic amines production of *Enterococcus faecalis*. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 64, 105-117.
- Gardini, F., Zaccarelli, A., Belletti, N., Faustini, F., Cavazza, A., Martuscelli, M., et al. (2005). Factors influencing biogenic amine production by strain of *Oenococcus oeni* in model system. *Food Control*, 16, 609-616.
- Gençcelep, H., Kaban, G., and Kaya, M. (2007). Effects of starter cultures and nitrite levels on formation of biogenic amines in sucuk. *Meat Science*, 77(3), 424-430.

- Genigeorgis, C.A. (1985). Microbial and safety implications of the use of modified atmospheres to extend the storage life of fresh meat and fish. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 1(5), 237-251.
- Gonzaga, V.E., Lescano, A.G., Huaman, A.A., Salmon-Mulanovich, G., and Blazes, D.L. (2009). Histamine levels in fish from markets in Lima, Peru. *Journal of Food Protection*, 72(5), 1112-1115.
- Hacisalihoglu, A., Jongejan, J.A., and Duine, J.A. (1997). Distribution of amines oxidase and amine dehydrogenase in bacteria grown in primary amines and characterization of the amine oxidase from *Klebsiella* oxytoca. Microbiology, 143, 505-512.
- Halasz, A., Barath, A., Sarkadi, L. S., and Holzapfel, W. (1994). Biogenic amines and their production by microorganisms in food. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 5, 42-49.
- Haryani, Y., Noorzaleha, A.S., Abu Bakar, F., Noorjahan, B.A., Patrick, G.B., Shamsinar, A.T., Laila R.A.S., and Son. R. (2007). Incidence of *Klebsiella pneumonia* in street foods sold in Malaysia and their characterization by antibiotic resistance, plasmid profiling, and RAPD–PCR analysis. *Food Control*, 18(7), 847-853.
- Helmi, W., Lee, H.K., Abu Bakar, F., Wagiran, R., Salleh, A.B., Nor Azah, Y., and Misron, N. (2012). A simple capacitive biosensor device for histamine measurement. Sensor Review, 32(3), 245-250.
- Hernandez-Herrero, M.M., Roig-Sagues, A. X., Rodriguez-Jerez, J.J., and Mora-Ventura, M.T. (1999). Halotolerant and halophilic histamineforming bacteria isolated during the ripening of salted anchovies (*Engraulis encrasicholus*). Journal of Food Protection, 62, 509-514.
- Hernandez-Jover, T., Izquierdo-Pulido, M., Veciana-Nogues, M.T., Marine-Font, A., and Vidal-Carou, M.C. (1997). Biogenic amine and polyamine contents in meat and meat products. *Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry*, 45(6), 2098–102.
- Hisham, H., Nor Azah Yusof, Abu Bakar Salleh, Abu Bakar, F. (2011). An optical test strip for the detection of benzoic acid in food. *Sensors*, 11(8), 7302-7313.

- Hu, Y., Xia, W., and Liu, X. (2007). Changes in biogenic amines in fermented silver carp sausages inoculated with mixed starter cultures. *Food Chemistry*, 104(1), 188-195.
- Ishizuka, H., Horinouchi, S., and Beppu, T. (1993). Putrescine oxidase of Micrococcus rubens: primary structure and Escherichia coli. Journal of General Microbiology, 139, 425-432.
- Jamilah, B., Yassoralipour, A., Abu Bakar, F., and Rahman, R.A. (2010). Biogenic amine changes in barramundi (*Lates calcarifer*) slices stored at 0 °C and 4 °C. *Food Chemistry*, 119(2), 467-470.
- Joosten, H.M.L.J., and Nunez, M. (1996). Prevention of histamine formation in cheese by bacteriocin producing lactic acid bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 62(4), 1178-1181.
- Kalac, P., Spicka, J., Krizek, M., and Pelikanova, T. (2000). The effect of lactic acid bacteria inoculants on biogenic amines formation in suaerkraut. *Food Chemistry*, 70, 355-359.
- Kalac, P. (2009). Recent advances in the research on biological roles of dietary polyamines in man. *Journal of Applied Biomedicine*, 7(2), 65–74.
- Kang, J.H., and Park, Y.H. (1984). Effect of food additives on the histamine formation during processing and storage of mackerel. *Bulletin of The Korean Fisheries Society*, 17, 383.
- Kim, M.K., Mah, J.H. and Hwang, H.J. 2009. Biogenic amine formation and bacterial contribution in fish, squid and shellfish. *Food Chemistry*, 116, 87-95.
- Kim, S.H., Field, K.G., Chang, D.S., Wei, C.I. and An, H. 2001. Identification of bacteria crucial to histamine accumulation in Pacific mackerel during storage. *Journal of Food Protection*, 64, 1556-1564.
- Kimura, B., Konagaya, Y., and Fujii, T. (2001). Histamine formation by *Tetragenococcus muriaticus*, a halophilic lactic acid bacterium isolated from fish sauce. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 70, 71-77.

- Komprda, T., Neznalovà, J., Standara, S., and Bover-Cid, S. (2001). Effect of starter culture and storage temperature on the content of biogenic amines in dry fermented sausage polican. *Meat Science*, 59(3), 267-276.
- Krízek, M., Vácha, F., and Pelikánová, T. (2011). Biogenic amines in carp roe (*Cyprinus carpio*) preserved by four different methods. *Food Chemistry*, 126(3), 1493-1497.
- Lakshmanan, R., Shakila, R.J., and Jeyasekaran, G. (2002a). Changes in the halophilic amine forming bacterial flora during salt-drying of sardines (*Sardinella gibbosa*). Food Research International, 35(6), 541-546.
- Lakshmanan, R., Shakila, R. J., and Jeyasekaran, G. (2002b). Survival of amine-forming bacteria during the ice storage of fish and shrimp. *Food Microbiology*, *19*, 617-625.
- Law, S.V., Abu Bakar, F., Mat Hashim, D., and Abdul Hamid, A. (2011). Popular fermented foods and beverages in Southeast Asia. *International Food Research Journal*, 18(2), 474-483.
- Lee, S.P., Buber, M.T., Yang, Q., Cerne, R., Cortes, R.Y., Sprous, D.G., and Bryant R.W. (2008). Thymol and related alkyl phenols activate the hTRPA1 channel. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 153(8), 1739-1749.
- Lehane, L., and Olley, J. (2000). Histamine fish poisoning revisited. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 58(1-2), 1-37.
- Leuschner, R.G., and Hammes, W.P. (1998). Tyramine degradation by Micrococci during ripening of fermented sausages. *Meat Science*, 49 (3), 289-296.
- Leuschner, R.G., Heidel, M., and Hammes, W.P. (1998). Histamine and tyramine degradation by food fermenting microorganisms. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 39(1-2), 1-10.
- Lu, S., Xu, X., Zhou, G., Zhu, Z., Meng, Y., and Sun, Y. (2010). Effect of starter cultures on microbial ecosystem and biogenic amines in fermented sausage. *Food Control*, 21(4), 444-449.

- Luten, J. B., Bouquet, W., Seuren, L.A.J., Burggraaf, M.M., Riekwel-Booy, G., Durand, P., et al. (1992). Biogenic amines in fishery products: Standardization methods within EC. In H.H. Huss (Ed.), *Quality Assurance in the Fish industry* (pp. 427-439). Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.
- Luthy, J., and Schlatter, C. (1983). Biogenic amines in food: effects of histamine, tyramine and phenylethylamine in the human. *Z Lebensm Unters Forsch*, *177*(6), 439-443.
- Mah, J.H., Chang, Y.H., and Hwang, H.J. (2008). Paenibacillus tyraminigenes sp. nov. isolated from Myeolchi-jeotgal, a traditional Korean salted and fermented anchovy. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 127(3), 209-214.
- Mah, J.H., and Hwang, H.J. (2009). Inhibition of biogenic amine formation in a salted and fermented anchovy by *Staphylococcus xylosus* as a protective culture. *Food Control*, 20(9), 796-801.
- Mah, J.H., Kim, Y.J., and Hwang, H.J. (2009). Inhibitory effects of garlic and other spices on biogenic amine production in Myeolchi-jeot, Korean salted and fermented anchovy product. *Food Control*, 20(5), 449-454.
- Mah, J.H., Ahn, H.J., Park, H.J., Sung, H.C., and Hwang, H.J. (2003). Characterization of biogenic amines producing microorganisms isolated from Myeochi-jeot, Korean salted and fermented anchovy. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 13, 692-699.
- Martuscelli, M., Crudele, M.A., Gardini, F., and Suzzi, G. (2000). Biogenic amine formation and oxidation by *Staphylococcus xylosus* strains from artisanal fermented sausages. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 31, 228-232.
- Masson, F., Lebert, A., Talon, R., and Montel, M.C. (1997). Effect of physico-chemical factors influencing tyramine production by *Carnobacterium divergens. Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 83(1), 36-42.
- Matthies, C., Mayer, F., and Schink, B. (1989). Fermentative degradation of putrescine by new strictly anaerobic bacteria. *Archives of Microbiology*, 151, 498-505.

- Medina, M.A., Urdiales, J.L., Rodriguez-Caso, C., Ramirez, F.J., and Sanchez-Jimenez, F. (2003). Biogenic amines and polyamines: Similar biochemistry for different physiological missions and biomedical applications. *Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 38(1), 23-59.
- Mohan, C.O., Ravishankar, C.N., Srinivasa Gopal, T.K., Ashok Kumar, K., and Lalitha, K.V. (2009). Biogenic amines formation in seer fish (*Scomberomorus commerson*) steaks packed with O₂ scavenger during chilled storage. *Food Research International*, 42(3), 411-416.
- Murooka, Y., Doi, N., and Harada, T. (1979). Distribution of membrane bound monoamine oxidase in bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 38, 565-569.
- Naila, A., Flint, S., Fletcher, G.C., Bremer, P.J. and Meerdink, G. 2011. Biogenic amines and potential histamine forming bacteria in rihaakuru (a cooked fish paste). *Food Chemistry*, 128, 479-484.
- Nieto-Arribas, P., Poveda, J. M., Sesena, S., Palop, L., and Cabezas, L. (2009). Technological characterization of *Lactobacillus* isolates from traditional Manchego cheese for potential use as adjunct starter cultures. *Food Control*, 20(12), 1092-1098.
- Noordiana, N., Abu Bakar, F., and Farhana, Y.C.B. (2011). Formaldehyde content and quality characteristics of selected fish and seafood from wet markets. *International Food Research Journal*, 18(1), 125-136.
- Norliana, S., Abdulamir, A.S., Abu Bakar, F., and Salleh, A.B. (2009). The health risk of formaldehyde to human beings. *American Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology, 4*(3), 48-66.
- Nur Indang, M., Abu Bakar, F., Abdulamir, A.S., Salleh, A.B., Lee, Y.H., and Nor Azah, Y. (2009). A review: methods of determination of health-endangering formaldehyde in diet. *Research Journal of Pharmacology*, 3(2), 31-47.
- Nur Indang M, Abu Bakar, F., Salleh, A., B., Lee Yook Heng, Rahman Wagiran, Shafiquzzaman Siddiquee (2012a). Electrochemical biosensor immobilization of formaldehyde dehydrogenase with Nafion for determination of formaldehyde from Indian mackerel (*Rastrelliger* kanagurta) fish. Current Analytical Chemistry. 8(4), 534-542.

- Nur Indang, M., Abu Bakar, F., Salleh A.B., Lee, Y.H., Wagiran, R., and Siddiquee, S. (2012b). Screen-printed histamine biosensors fabricated from the entrapment of diamine oxidase in a photocured poly(HEMA) film. *International Journal of Electrochemical Science*, 7(5), 4702-4715.
- Ozogul, F., and Ozogul, Y. (2006). Biogenic amine content and biogenic amine quality indices of sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*) stored in modified atmosphere packaging and vacuum packaging. *Food Chemistry*, 99, 574-578.
- Ozogul, F., Taylor, K.D.A., Quantick, P., and Ozogul, Y. (2002). Biogenic amines formation in Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) stored under modified atmosphere packaging using a rapid HPLC method. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 37, 515-522.
- Paleologos, E.K., Sarvaidis, I.N., and Kontominas, M.G. (2004). Biogenic amines formation and its relation to microbiological and sensory attributes in ice-stored whole, gutted, and filleted Mediterranean sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Food Microbiology, 21, 549-557.
- Parrot, S., Jones, S., and Cooper, R. (1987). 2-phenylethylamine catabolism by *Escherichia coli* K12. *Journal of General Microbiology*, 133, 347-351.
- Premont, R.T., Gainetdinov, R.R., and Caron, M.G. (2001). Following the trace of elusive amines. *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, 98, 9474-9475.
- Raftari, M., Azizi Jalilian, F., Abdulamir, A.S., Son, R., Zamberi, S., and Abu Bakar, F. (2009). Practical and novel sterilization approach for the pathogenic *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteria. *American Journal of Infectious Diseases* 5(4), 301-307.
- Raftari, M., Azizi Jalilian, F., Abdulamir, A.S., Son, R., Zamberi, S., and Abu Bakar, F. (2012). Antibacterial activity of organic acids on *Salmonella* and *Listeria*. *Asia Life Sciences*, 21(1), 13-30.
- Rand, R.H., Abdulamir A. S., Law, S.V., Abu Bakar, F., Abas, F., Jahanshiri, F., and Sekawi, Z. (2011). Novel *in-vitro* antimicrobial activity of *Vigna radiata* (L.) R. Wilczek against highly resistant bacterial and fungal pathogens. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*. 5(16), 3606-3618.

- Rezaei, M., Montazeri, N., Langrudi, H.E., Mokhayer, B., Parviz, M., and Nazarinia, A. (2007). The biogenic amines and bacterial changes of farmed rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) stored in ice. *Food Chemistry*, 103, 150-154.
- Robin, T., Bilong, L. M., Cheah, Y. K., Salleh, N.A., Chai, L. C., Ragavan, U.M., Lee, H.Y, Gunsalam, J.W., Haryani, Y., Patrick, G.B., Adli, M.R., Youse, A.N., Murugaiah, C., Abu Bakar, F., Ghazali. F.M., Malakar, P. K. and Son Radu. (2007). Incidence and characterization of *Salmonella* species from street foods and clinical samples. *Journal* of Food Safety. 27(1), 345-361.
- Ross, T. (2008). Microbial ecology in food safety risk assessment. In: D.W. Schaffner (Ed.), *Microbial Risk Analysis of Foods* (pp. 51-59). Washington D.C.: ASM Press.
- Rossi, S., Lee, C., Ellis, P.C. and Pivarnik, L.F. 2002. Biogenic amines formation in big eye tuna steaks and whole skipjack tuna. *Journal of Food Sciences*, 67, 2056-2060.
- Sabah, J., Abdulamir, A.S., and Abu Bakar, F. (2011). Novel phage-based bio-processing of pathogenic *Escherichia coli* and its biofilms. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*. 28(1), 47-60.
- Sanceda, N.G., Kurata, T., and Arakawa, N. (1996). Accelerated fermentation process for the manufacture of fish sauce using histidine. *Journal of Food Science*, 61 (1), 220-225Santos, M.H.S. (1996). Biogenic amines: their importance in foods. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 29(2-3), 213-231.
- Sara, B.C., Marta, H., Maria, I.P., and Vidal-Carou, M.C. (2000). Reduction of biogenic amine formation using a negative amino acid decarboxylase starter culture for fermentation of fuet sausages. *Journal* of Food Protection, 63, 237-243.
- Satomi, M., Furushita, M., Oikawa, H., Yoshikawa-Takahashi, M., and Yano, Y. (2008). Analysis of a 30 kbp plasmid encoding histidine decarboxylase gene in *Tetragenococcus halophilus* isolated from fish sauce. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 126(1-2), 202-209.

- See, A.S., Salleh, A.B., Abu Bakar, F., Yusof, N.A., and Abdulamir, A.S., and Lee, Y.H. (2010). Risk and health effect of boric acid. *American Journal of Applied Science*, 7(5), 620-627.
- Sekiguchi, Y., Makita, H., Yamamura, A., and Matsumoto, K. (2004). A thermostable histamine oxidase from *Arthrobacter crystallopoietes* KAIT-B-007. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 97(2), 104-110.
- Sellers, B.J.M., Staggs, C.G., and Bogle, M.L. (2006). Tyramine in foods and monoamine oxidase inhibitor drugs: a crossroad where medicine, nutrition, pharmacy, and food industry coverage. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 19, 556-565.
- Shafiquzzaman, S., Yusof, N.A., Salleh, A.B., Tan, S.G., and Abu Bakar, F. (2011). Electrochemical DNA biosensor for the detection of *Trichoderma harzianum* based on a gold electrode modified with a composite membrane made from an ionic liquid, ZnO nanoparticles and chitosan, and by using acridine orange as a redox indicator. *Microchimica Acta*. 172, 3-4. 357-363
- Shafiquzzaman, S., Yusof, N.A., Salleh, A.B., Tan, S.G., and Abu Bakar, F. (2012). Development of electrochemical DNA biosensor for *Trichoderma harzianum* based on ionic liquid/ZnO nanoparticles/ chitosan/gold electrode. *Journal of Solid State Electrochemistry*. 16(1), 273–282
- Shakila, R.J., Vasundhara, T.S., and Rao, D.V. (1996). Inhibitory effect of spices on in vitro histamine production and histidine decarboxylase activity of Morganella morganii and on the biogenic amine formation in mackerel stored at 30 degrees C. *Z Lebensm Unters Forsch, 203*(1), 71-76.
- Shalaby, A.R. (1996). Significance of biogenic amines to food safety and human health. *Food Research International*, 29(7), 675-690.
- Someya, A., Horie, S., Yamamoto, H., and Murayama, T. (2003). Modification of capsaicin-sensitive neurons in isolated guinea pig ileum by [6]-gingerol and lafutidine. *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences*, 92(4), 359-366.

- Spicka, J., Kalac, P., Bover-Cid, S., and Krizek, M. (2002). Application of lactic acid bacteria starter cultures for decreasing the biogenic amines levels in sauerkraut. *European Food Research and Technology*, 215(6), 515-519.
- Stratton, J.E., Hutkins, R.W., and Taylor, S.L. (1991). Biogenic amines in cheese and other fermented foods: A review. *Journal of Food Protection*, 54, 460-470.
- Stute, R., Petridis, K., Steinhart, H., and Biernoth, G. (2002). Biogenic amines in fish and soy sauces. *European Food Research and Technology*, 215(2), 101-107.
- Suwaibah, G., Abu Bakar, F., Abdulamir, AS, Karim R., and Saari, N. (2009). Microbial growth, sensory characteristic and ph as potential spoilage indicators of chinese yellow wet noodles from commercial processing plants. *American Journal of Applied Sciences* 6(6): 1059-1066.
- Suzita, R., Abdulamir, A.S., Abu Bakar, F., and Son, R. (2009). A mini review: cholera outbreak via shellfish. *American Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 5(1), 40-47.
- Suzita, R., Abu Bakar, F., and Son, R. (2010). Detection of *Vibrio cholerae* in raw cockles (*Anadara granosa*) by polymerase chain reaction. *International Food Research Journal*, 117(2), 675-680.
- Suzzi, G., and Gardini, F. (2003). Biogenic amines in dry fermented sausages: a review. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 88, 41-54.
- Tao, Z., Sato, M., Zhang, H., Yamaguchi, T. and Nakano, T. 2011. A survey of histamine content in seafood sold in markets of nine countries. *Food Control*, 22, 430-432
- Tapingkae, W., Parkin, K. L., Tanasupawat, S., Kruenate, J., Benjakul, S., and Visessanguan, W. (2010a). Whole cell immobilisation of *Natrinema gari* BCC 24369 for histamine degradation. *Food Chemistry*, 120(3), 842-849.

- Tapingkae, W., Tanasupawat, S., Parkin, K. L., Benjakul, S., and Visessanguan, W. (2010b). Degradation of histamine by extremely halophilic archaea isolated from high salt-fermented fishery products. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 46(2), 92-99.
- Teti, D., Visalli, M., and McNair, H. (2002). Analysis of polyamines as markers of (patho)physiological conditions. *Journal of Chromatography B*, 781, 107-149.
- Torrieri, E., Cavella, S., Villani, F., and Masi, P. (2006). Influence of modified atmosphere packaging on the chilled shelf life of gutted farmed bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). *Journal of Food Engineering*, 77(4), 1078-1086.
- Tsai, Y.H., Lin, C.H., Chang, S.C., Chen, H.C., Kung, H.F., Wei, C.I., and Hwang, D.F. (2005). Occurrence of histamine and histamine-forming bacteria in salted mackerel in Taiwan. *Food Microbiology*, 22, 461-467.
- Tsai, Y.H., Lin, C.H., Chien, L.T., Lee, T.M., Wei, C.I., and Hwang, D.F. (2006). Histamine contents of fermented fish products in Taiwan and isolation of histamine-forming bacteria. *Food Chemistry*, 98, 64-70.
- Velu, S., Abu Bakar, F., Mahyudin, N.A., Saari, N., and Zaman, M.Z. (2013). Effect of modified atmosphere packaging on microbial flora changes in fishery products. *International Food Research Journal*, 20(1), 1787-1796.
- Vinci, G., and Antonelli, M.L. (2002). Biogenic amines: quality index of freshness in red and white meat. *Food Control*, 13, 519-524.
- Visciano, P., Campana, G., Annunziata, L., Vergara, A. and Ianieri, A. (2007). Effect of storage temperature on histamine formation in *Sardina pilchardus* and *Engraulis encrasicolus* after catch. *Journal* of Food Biochemistry, 31, 577-588.
- Widjaja, W.P., Abdulamir, A.S., Abu Bakar, F., Saari, N., Ishak, Z. and Harith, H.H. (2011). Amino acids and biogenic amines determination in *Mystus nemurus*. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 35, 342-348.

- Widjaja, W.P., Abdulamir, A.S., Abu Bakar, F., Nazamid, B., Saari, N., Zamri, B., Ishak, Z., and Abdul Hamid, A. (2009). Lipid Quality Deterioration of Tropical Bagridae Catfish (*Mystus nemurus*) During Storage. *Research Journal of Biological Sciences*, 4(4), 525-530.
- Wendakoon, C.N., and Morihiko, S. (1995). Inhibition of amino acid decarboxylase activity of *Enterobacter aerogenes* by active components in spices. *Journal of Food Protection*, 58(3), 280-283.
- Xu, Y., Xia, W., Yang, F., Kim, J.M., and Nie, X. (2010). Effect of fermentation temperature on the microbial and physicochemical properties of silver carp sausages inoculated with *Pediococcus pentosaceus*. *Food Chemistry*, 118(3), 512-518.
- Yamashita, M., Sakaue, M., Iwata, M., Sugino, H., and Murooka, Y. (1993). Purification and characterization of monoamine oxidase from *Klebsiella aerogenes. Journal of fermentation and Bioengineering*, 76, 289-295.
- Yosinaga, D.H., and Frank, H.A. (1982). Histamine producing bacteria in decomposing skipjack tuna (*Katsuwonus pelamis*). Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 44(2), 447-452.
- Zaman, M.Z. (2011). Isolation of *Staphylococcus carnosus* and *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* as potential biogenic amine degraders in fish sauce. PhD Thesis (Unpublished). Universiti Putra Malaysia. Malaysia.
- Zaman, M.Z., Abu Bakar, F., Jinap, S. and Bakar, J. (2011). Novel starter cultures to inhibit biogenic amines accumulation during fish sauce fermentation. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*. 145(1), 84-91.
- Zaman, M.Z., Abu Bakar, F., Selamat, J. and Bakar, J. (2010). Occurrence of biogenic amines and amines degrading bacteria in fish sauce. *Czech Journal of Food Sciences*. 28(5), 440-449.
- Zaman, M.Z., Abdulamir, A.S., Abu Bakar, F., Selamat, J. and Bakar, J. (2009). A review: microbiological, physicochemical and health impact of high level of biogenic amines in fish sauce. *American Journal of Applied Sciences*. 6(6), 1199-1211.

BIOGRAPHY

Fatimah Abu Bakar was born in Teluk Intan, Perak. She received her secondary education at Sekolah Tun Fatimah Johor Bahru, Johor and did her Matriculation at the Norwood High School, Adelaide South Australia. She then obtained her Bachelor of Science Degree with a First Class Honours in Microbiology from Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM) in 1985 of which she won the UKM Gold Medal and also the Tan Sri Hj. Mohd Noah Award for being the best student at the Faculty of Life Sciences.

She started her career as a tutor in January 1986 at the Faculty of Food Science and Biotechnology, Universiti Pertanian Malaysia (now Universiti Putra Malaysia, UPM). Later in the same year, she went on to do my Master of Science in Microbial Physiology Related to Biotechnology at King's College, University of London under the UPM SLAB (*"Sistem Latihan Akademik Bumiputera"*) Program. In October 1987, she became a lecturer at the Department of Food Science, Faculty of Food Science and Biotechnology, Universiti Putra Malaysia and received her Ph.D in Food Microbiology from the Faculty of Science and Environmental Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia in March 2001.

As a lecturer, she had taught courses in Food Microbiology, Biochemistry and Food Safety including Basic Food Microbiology, Food Microbiology, Industrial Microbiology, Food Fermentation Technology, Food Biochemistry, Introduction to Food Science, Food Hygiene and Sanitation, Food Toxicology and Nutritional Changes in Food. Fatimah had also taught the post-graduate courses in the field of Food Safety and Quality such as Microbiology of Food Safety, Microbial Ecology of Food Commodities and the Postharvest Physiology and Biochemistry of Food Commodities. She has been the Coordinator for Industrial Training for the Bachelor

of Food Science and Technology (BSTM) and Bachelor of Food Studies (BSPMK) Programs since the year 2002.

She was the prime mover in the curriculum development for the Master of Food Safety and Quality Assurance (non-thesis) Course work program, given the task to lead, comprehend, develop and prepare new courses synopsis for the curriculum mainly the field of Food Quality Control and Food Safety, Food Toxicology and Advanced Food Microbiology. With her expertise in the field of Food Microbiology and Food Safety, she was invited by the Universiti Darul Iman (UDM), Terengganu now known as UniZA in sharing with them by teaching their Bachelor of Food Technology program students in Basic Food Microbiology courses for the year 2007 and 2008. Fatimah has been a trainer and often invited as a resource person to lecture or give academic talk at various training workshops such as the *Basic Food Microbiology* Training Workshop and Microbiological Risk Assessment Workshops organized not only by the Centre of Excellence for Food Safety, UPM but also by other agencies in Malaysia for such workshops in the Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) Workshop organized by the Malaysian Institute of Food Technology (MIFT) throughout Malaysia and those organized by the Ministry of Health and private agencies. She was also involved in setting and evaluating examination questions for the *Penilaian Tahap Kecekapan*; *PTK* 5 and 6 and even TK 1, 2 and 3 and answers for the laboratory staff (science officers, assistant science officers and the laboratory technicians) at the faculty mainly in the field of food microbiology and safety. She has been a referee for promotion exercise for those candidates applying for the post of associate professors in UPM and also from other universities.

Being in the academic world, she cannot run away from supervising students. Thus up to December 2012, she has been

the main supervisor for eight (8) Ph.D, twenty eight (28) M.Sc, and another more than one hundred twenty (120) undergraduate students. Out of those numbers, seven (7) Ph.D and ten (10) M. Sc. had already graduated. At the same time, she is also actively involved with co-supervising another ten (10) Ph.D students, including five (5) had already graduated, and another 12 M.Sc students with six (6) of them had already graduated. These students supervision may run across the different faculties and institutes in the University as well as those from other universities mainly in the field of Food Biotechnology, Food Safety and Biosensor Technology. Apart being surrounded by all these students, and through her successful students' supervision, she had been entrusted to lead an international project under the Arab Science and Technology Foundation (ASTF) grant with a post-doctoral candidate from the year 2007 till 2011. She is an external examiner for M.Sc and Ph.D students from USM and UTM.

As an academician, all of us believe that research and teaching are equally important. She had been actively involved in research covering subjects on food microbiology and food safety, biotechnology, biochemistry and quality mainly of seafood and seafood products. In this capacity, as a project leader, she is responsible for managing more than twenty research projects from various government and private agencies with a total funding of more than RM 3,000,000.00. Then with her international standing and reputation in the field of food safety and food microbiology she had been entrusted to lead five important oversea/international projects from Japan, Singapore, Australia and the United Arab Emirates. She started with the Japanese International Corporation Agency (JICA) way back in the year 1988-1990 on the project *Freshness and Quality of Freshly landed Fish in Malaysia*, then work on *Effect of 4-hexylresorsinol on freshness and quality of*

prawns with Pfizer Limited, Singapore in the year 1989-1991 had brought her to the ASEAN region in promoting the preservative compound. Another project sponsored by the Australian Wheat Board (AWB) on the *Spoilage of Yellow Wet Noodles* from the year 2004-2006 while the Arab Science and Technology Foundation (ASTF) awarded her grants for the two projects on *Development of Rapid Diagnostic kits for multivariant drug resistance* for the year 2007-2011.

Fatimah is also a member of National Biosensor Technology Research Group that conducted research to develop biosensor apparatus in the form of enzyme-based electrodes to determine the quality and safety of fish. This Top-Down Project engendered in 2003 until 2010. As a co-researcher, she had been actively involved in the studies of *Development of Biosensor Technology* for determination of contaminants in agricultural products and the environment funded for more than RM 3,000,000 over a period of 6 years by the Ministry of Science, Technology and Innovations (MOSTI) under the 8th and 9th Malaysia Plan top down IRPA projects, working in close collaboration with other institutions such as Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM), Universiti Teknologi Malaysia (UTM), SIRIM, Malaysian Agriculture Research and Development Institute (MARDI), Universiti Teknologi Mara (UiTM) and Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM). As this is an important national and public agenda, the research on fish and fishery products has made the Lembaga Kemajuan Ikan Malaysia (LKIM) appoint her to be their consultant under the Post harvest Losses of Fish Project working closely with the Ministry of Agriculture (MOA) and Ministry of Health, Malaysia. In 2003, she had been given some grant for a project monitoring prohibited chemicals namely formaldehyde and boric acid contamination at various fish entry and landing ports throughout the country, which

is very much of national and public interests. Closely related to that, for the year 2004, she was immediately entrusted by the LKIM to train their Fish Inspectors and help set up a National Quality Control and Fish Safety Laboratory for the authority at the Kompleks Sultan Abu Bakar, Johor Second Link, Pasir Gudang, Johor. A few other private companies (such as Gold Carbon Sdn Bhd and Atlantic Three) had also engaged her as consultant for the project on monitoring post-harvest losses and quality and safety of fish and aquaculture products. Later in the year 2005 and 2006, she was involved with the DUMEX Laboratory Quality staff-training program in managing, teaching and training the laboratory technical staff in the field of Food Microbiology and Food Safety at DUMEX Quality Control Laboratory in Nilai, Negri Sembilan for thirty of its laboratory technicians. The purpose was to upgrade their handson knowledge and keeping abreast with the latest technology and issues in food safety.

Apart from those projects mentioned above, recently in 2009, she also secured quite a number of research projects funded by other government agencies such as the Ministry of Health (MOH) and Jabatan Kemajuan Islam Malaysia (JAKIM) under the project of *Determination of Alcohol Contents in Foods and Drinks in Malaysia*, from the Ministry of Agriculture (MOA) on Modelling *Of The Intoxication Effect Of Selected Fermented Alcoholic Foods In Malaysia* and from the Ministry of Higher Education on the project entitled *Development of Rapid biotechnological techniques for determination of Formaldehyde in Fish and Seafood Products* and *Novel Starter Culture for Cheese Manufacturing*. The other prominent research projects and grants that she shared with the other researchers entitled *Production of fermented foods high in gamma-butyric acid as designer food* from MOSTI for more than RM 1 million and *Thermostable lipase from local strains of lipase*

producing thermophilic bacteria for RM 300,000 also from MOSTI. Apart from these projects, there are other grants for projects related to food safety and food biotechnology which are also carried out by our group funded either by the Ministry of Agriculture (MOA), private agencies, or even UPM under the Research University Grant Scheme (RUGS).

From all these projects carried out successfully, as the main or co-author, she managed to receive more than 30 local and international awards, published over 121 publications in refereed citation index international journals, 1 textbook translation, 4 chapters in books and another 150 over in either international or national proceedings and paper presentations during conferences and seminars. Of these awards, she had won gold, silver and bronze medals for various research projects on food safety and food biotechnology at the university and international levels of Invention, Innovation and Technology Exhibition. The project on Halotolerant Staphylococcus carnosus FS19 as potential histamine degrader had won gold medal at the 23rd International Invention Innovation, Industrial Design & Technology Exhibition (ITEX 2012) while Thermostable lipase from local strains of lipase producing thermophilic bacteria had won gold medal at the 17th International Invention Innovation, Industrial Design & Technology Exhibition (ITEX 2006), had 2 silver and 1 bronze medals during Malaysia Technology Exhibition (MTE2011) for the projects on Use of enzyme-based biosensor for determination of formaldehyde in fish and fish product, A DNA-based Biosensor for detection of bacterial and fungal pathogens and Use of Capacitance-based Biosensor for histamine determination respectively. She also obtained 1 Intellectual property for the project *Thermostable* food-grade lipase producing bacteria isolated from Malaysia hot springs and gene partial sequences deposited in Genbank Data

Library. She was also awarded the best posters presentation at the Malaysian Science and Technology Congress (MSTC) 2000. Regional Biosensors and Biodiagnostics Conference, 2008, Kuala Lumpur and 30th Malaysian Microbiology Symposium, 2008 in Kuantan. Thus far, she had won numerous medals during the annual research and innovation exhibitions (PRPI) held at UPM. Apart from all these publications and awards, within her research groups, she had filed 12 patents, of which 4 as the project leader. One patent published with WIPO from the Use of Amperometric Biosensor for histamine determination in fish, 1 patent pending on the Use of Capacitance-based Biosensor for histamine determination projects, another 2 pending on the Use of enzyme-based biosensor for determination of formaldehyde in fish and fish products, and on A DNA-based Biosensor for detection of bacterial and fungal pathogens. 2 European patents published in 2010 for the Methods for Virus Design and in 2011 for Phage-Based Limulus Amoebocyte Lysate Assay For The Rapid Detection Of Bacteria from the ASTF project, 1 patent shared from the Reduction of Mercury levels in Fish and 6 others filed from the other projects. The work on Use of enzyme-based biosensor for determination of formaldehyde in fish has brought her one step further and at the moment, in the process of pre-commercialization/licensing stage.

As a scientist in the field of Food Safety and Food Microbiology she was entrusted to be a reviewer for the various local and international citation-indexed journals such as the Food Control, International Journal of Food Microbiology, International Journal of Applied Microbiology, Letters of Applied Microbiology, Journal of Food Science and Agriculture, Sensors Letters, Biotechnology, Analytica Chimista Acta, Journal of Agricultural Sciences and Technology (JAST), Pertanika International Journal of Tropical Agriculture, ASEAN Food Journal, International Food Research

Journal, Mardi Bulletin and some others mainly in the field of food science and Technology.

Currently, she sits in the technical committee as panel evaluator for UPM research proposals and MOSTI in evaluating e-Science and Technofund research grant proposals in the fields of Food Science, Food Safety and Food Biotechnology.

She began involving in the administrative work at the Faculty as a Food Microbiology Teaching and Food Safety Research Laboratory Manager from 2001-2005, looking after the day-to-day running and maintenance of the teaching and research laboratories. In 2004, she was the Chairman for the Staff Training Division at the Faculty, coordinating the training needs of the faculty academic and supporting staff.

She was the Deputy Dean of Academic and Student Affairs at the Faculty of Food Science and Technology, handling the academic, students' mobility and student affairs' division of the Faculty from June 2010 till February 2012 before changing portfolio to Resource Management Division until today. Prior to that, she was appointed as the Head of Department of Food Science for 5 years from June 2005 till May 2010. Being entrusted as the Head and Chairman of UPM Food Science and Technology degree (BSTM) program, she was also active as a committee member of the ISO 9001-2000 and now the ISO 9001-2008 team, Industrial Training, Asset Management, Food Analysis Unit, Human Resource Development, Trustee Account, Curriculum Revision, and Post-graduate Studies. Fatimah had also played an active role in reviewing and setting up previously a three-year program of the Bachelor of Food Science and Technology in the 1990s and later reverted to the four-year program since 2005. Currently, she is also the Head of Industrial Unit for the Faculty.

Since the year 2001, Fatimah had been appointed as panel evaluator for the Lembaga Akreditasi Negara (LAN), now known as the Malaysia Qualifications Agency (MQA) either as the chairperson or member of the panel evaluators. Being an evaluator, she is actively involved with the evaluation and accreditation of new academic programs across the levels of diplomas, Bachelor, Master and Doctor of Philosophy, mainly in the field of food science, food technology, health sciences and biotechnology related programs throughout the country. Her responsibility is to help the board in evaluating and accrediting courses and new programs for several private universities and colleges throughout Malaysia especially with the improvement of Academic Performance Audit (APA), Code of Practice for Program Accreditation(COPPA) and Code of Practice for Institutional Accreditation (COPPIA) very much in-line with the aspiration of the Ministry of Higher Education (KPT). In 2011, she was appointed by KPT as the resource person/ advisor to the Department of Polytechnic, KPT for the development of the Advanced Diploma in Food Technology program. Besides, Universiti Malaysia Terengganu (UMT) has appointed her as their external assessor for three years (2012-2015) evaluating the Bachelor of Food Science (Food Technology) academic program. Since the year 2008, Dewan Bahasa dan Pustaka (DBP) appointed her to sit as the expert panel for English-Malay translation in the field of Food Science and Technology.

She is a member of several professional affiliations mainly the Malaysian Institute of Food Technologists, an Executive committee (EXCO) member and Life member of the Malaysian Society for Microbiology and a member of the Malaysian Nutrition Society. Through these experiences, she was the prime mover/the chairperson for the International Conference on Food Research in November 2010 (ICFR2010) at Putrajaya Marriot, in collaboration

with ILSI and ICSMF. Apart from that, to mention a few, she has been the Chairperson of the organizing committee for auspicious occasions such as *the Faculty Alumni Nights* consecutively for the year 2011 and 2012 and as advisor to the students *International Food Festival* event last November 2012.

She was awarded the Excellence Service Award for the 2002, 2003, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011 by the faculty. She is an associate researcher at the Institute of Bioscience, IBS, since April 2002 and since 2008 as an associate fellow researcher at the Institute of Halal Products, UPM.

On the community front, she is often called by the magazines, media etc to give advice and opinion in the various fields of food science, food safety and quality. Among them, in 2008, she was invited by TV3 to appear live-on air for the programme on Wanita Hari Ini to talk about the Effect of Fungi in Food. While in 2010, she helped UPM to promote the use of enzyme-based biosensor for the determination of formaldehyde in fish and seafood products, appearing in almost all national mainstream media (TV and newspapers). For 2011, she had been interviewed by the New Sunday Times for the article on "Expired Foods" while last June 2012 she appeared on TV Al-Hijrah to speak on the Halal and safety of fermented fruits and vegetables and in October 2012 she appeared in *Berita Harian* to talk about her research on antiviral activities of red cabbage. Being an all rounder, she had represented the Faculty in the Inter-Faculty Badminton tournament, playing in the Women Doubles for the year 2004-2006.

Alhamdulillah, having working very hard towards achieving her goals in life, she is indeed very happy to help UPM in achieving its mission of being a leading institution of higher learning and research, contributing not only to human advancement and discovery of knowledge, but also towards the creation of wealth and

nation building. At the same time, she is proud to have contributions in the different field of activities throughout her stay at UPM thus far, not only towards the advancement of the students and university but also the community, public, related industries, Malaysia and the world as a whole. Finally but most importantly, she is happily married to Raja Ramle bin Raja Mansor and blessed with two lovely daughters Siti Noor Fathilah and Nur Fara Asyiqin.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

In the name of ALLAH, the Most Gracious and the Most Merciful, *Alhamdulillah Syukur*, all praises to the Almighty, through his Guidance and Blessings making me for what and who I am today.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to Dato' Dr Radin Umar Radin Sohadi, the Vice Chancellor of UPM for his kindness and support in my career as an academician.

My heartfelt gratitude and appreciation goes to Prof Dato' Dr Abu Bakar Salleh for the kindness, assistance and encouragement not only initially as my supervisor, but also considered as "mentor" and co-researcher. Certainly not to forget my *Kak Nya* (Dr Che Nyonya Abdul Razak) who *was there* and always "*believes in me by giving me the opportunity to start all over again*".

I am forever grateful to all the previous deans at the Faculty: Prof Dato' Dr Mohamed Mahyuddin Mohamed Dahan who took me to the post of a tutor in 1986, Prof Dr Gulam Rusul, Rahmat Ali made me a lecturer at the Department of Food Science in late 1987, Prof Dr Jinap Selamat, not only as a good friend, colleague but also for giving me support and encouragement all the way through and to the present dean, Prof Dr Mohd Yazid Abdul Manap for his support and trust.

I would also like to acknowledge all my co-researchers for sharing their knowledge and experiences with me. My deepest appreciation to all my undergraduate and postgraduate students, and to my two post-doctoral candidates (Dr Ahmed and Dr Zukhruf); whom without them I would not be able to be where I am today. At the same time, I am indebted to UPM, JPA, MOHE, MOA, MOSTI, JICA, AWB, PFIZER and ASTF for giving me the grants to pursue my research.

I have too many other individuals to thank; to all my colleagues and staff at the Faculty of Food Science and Technology, those who have contributed directly or indirectly to my success today, please forgive me because it is impossible to list them all here. I wish to say that I am grateful to have known and work with all of you. Last but not least, my deepest gratitude goes to those who matters the most to me, none other than my beloved family members; my mother, Arbaayah, my husband Raja Ramle Raja Mansor, my wonderful daughters Siti Noor Fathilah and Nur Fara Asyiqin, my son-in law, Faredi Abdul Razak and my little grandson Ahmad Faris Danial for their constant prayers, endless love, encouragement, patience, sacrifices and understanding. I am also forever indebted to my late father Allahyarham Haji Abu Bakar Haji Mohamad for his guidance and May Allah Sentiasa Mencucuri RahmatNya ke atas rohmu. Ameen. To all my siblings, in- laws, cousins, nephews, nieces and children, I appreciate the love and invaluable support.

To All of You Many Thanks Again MAY ALLAH BLESS YOU

LIST OF INAUGURAL LECTURES

- Prof. Dr. Sulaiman M. Yassin The Challenge to Communication Research in Extension 22 July 1989
- Prof. Ir. Abang Abdullah Abang Ali Indigenous Materials and Technology for Low Cost Housing 30 August 1990
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Rahman Abdul Razak Plant Parasitic Nematodes, Lesser Known Pests of Agricultural Crops 30 January 1993
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Suleiman *Numerical Solution of Ordinary Differential Equations: A Historical Perspective* 11 December 1993
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Ariff Hussein *Changing Roles of Agricultural Economics* 5 March 1994
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Ismail Ahmad Marketing Management: Prospects and Challenges for Agriculture 6 April 1994
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Mahyuddin Mohd. Dahan The Changing Demand for Livestock Products 20 April 1994
- Prof. Dr. Ruth Kiew *Plant Taxonomy, Biodiversity and Conservation* 11 May 1994
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Mohd. Zohadie Bardaie Engineering Technological Developments Propelling Agriculture into the 21st Century 28 May 1994
- Prof. Dr. Shamsuddin Jusop Rock, Mineral and Soil 18 June 1994

- Prof. Dr. Abdul Salam Abdullah Natural Toxicants Affecting Animal Health and Production 29 June 1994
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Yusof Hussein Pest Control: A Challenge in Applied Ecology 9 July 1994
- Prof. Dr. Kapt. Mohd. Ibrahim Haji Mohamed Managing Challenges in Fisheries Development through Science and Technology 23 July 1994
- Prof. Dr. Hj. Amat Juhari Moain Sejarah Keagungan Bahasa Melayu 6 Ogos 1994
- Prof. Dr. Law Ah Theem Oil Pollution in the Malaysian Seas 24 September 1994
- Prof. Dr. Md. Nordin Hj. Lajis Fine Chemicals from Biological Resources: The Wealth from Nature 21 January 1995
- Prof. Dr. Sheikh Omar Abdul Rahman Health, Disease and Death in Creatures Great and Small 25 February 1995
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Shariff Mohamed Din Fish Health: An Odyssey through the Asia - Pacific Region 25 March 1995
- Prof. Dr. Tengku Azmi Tengku Ibrahim *Chromosome Distribution and Production Performance of Water Buffaloes* 6 May 1995
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Hamid Mahmood Bahasa Melayu sebagai Bahasa Ilmu- Cabaran dan Harapan 10 Jun 1995

- Prof. Dr. Rahim Md. Sail Extension Education for Industrialising Malaysia: Trends, Priorities and Emerging Issues 22 July 1995
- Prof. Dr. Nik Muhammad Nik Abd. Majid *The Diminishing Tropical Rain Forest: Causes, Symptoms and Cure* 19 August 1995
- 23. Prof. Dr. Ang Kok Jee The Evolution of an Environmentally Friendly Hatchery Technology for Udang Galah, the King of Freshwater Prawns and a Glimpse into the Future of Aquaculture in the 21st Century 14 October 1995
- Prof. Dr. Sharifuddin Haji Abdul Hamid Management of Highly Weathered Acid Soils for Sustainable Crop Production
 28 October 1995
- 25. Prof. Dr. Yu Swee Yean
 Fish Processing and Preservation: Recent Advances and Future Directions
 9 December 1995
- Prof. Dr. Rosli Mohamad *Pesticide Usage: Concern and Options* 10 February 1996
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Ismail Abdul Karim Microbial Fermentation and Utilization of Agricultural Bioresources and Wastes in Malaysia
 March 1996
- Prof. Dr. Wan Sulaiman Wan Harun Soil Physics: From Glass Beads to Precision Agriculture 16 March 1996
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Aziz Abdul Rahman Sustained Growth and Sustainable Development: Is there a Trade-Off 1 or Malaysia 13 April 1996

- Prof. Dr. Chew Tek Ann Sharecropping in Perfectly Competitive Markets: A Contradiction in Terms 27 April 1996
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Yusuf Sulaiman Back to the Future with the Sun 18 May 1996
- Prof. Dr. Abu Bakar Salleh *Enzyme Technology: The Basis for Biotechnological Development* 8 June 1996
- Prof. Dr. Kamel Ariffin Mohd. Atan *The Fascinating Numbers* 29 June 1996
- Prof. Dr. Ho Yin Wan *Fungi: Friends or Foes* 27 July 1996
- 35. Prof. Dr. Tan Soon Guan Genetic Diversity of Some Southeast Asian Animals: Of Buffaloes and Goats and Fishes Too 10 August 1996
- Prof. Dr. Nazaruddin Mohd. Jali Will Rural Sociology Remain Relevant in the 21st Century? 21 September 1996
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Rani Bahaman Leptospirosis-A Model for Epidemiology, Diagnosis and Control of Infectious Diseases 16 November 1996
- Prof. Dr. Marziah Mahmood *Plant Biotechnology - Strategies for Commercialization* 21 December 1996
- Prof. Dr. Ishak Hj. Omar Market Relationships in the Malaysian Fish Trade: Theory and Application 22 March 1997

- 40. Prof. Dr. Suhaila Mohamad Food and Its Healing Power 12 April 1997
- Prof. Dr. Malay Raj Mukerjee
 A Distributed Collaborative Environment for Distance Learning Applications
 17 June 1998
- Prof. Dr. Wong Kai Choo Advancing the Fruit Industry in Malaysia: A Need to Shift Research Emphasis 15 May 1999
- Prof. Dr. Aini Ideris Avian Respiratory and Immunosuppressive Diseases- A Fatal Attraction 10 July 1999
- 44. Prof. Dr. Sariah Meon Biological Control of Plant Pathogens: Harnessing the Richness of Microbial Diversity 14 August 1999
- 45. Prof. Dr. Azizah Hashim The Endomycorrhiza: A Futile Investment? 23 Oktober 1999
- Prof. Dr. Noraini Abdul Samad Molecular Plant Virology: The Way Forward 2 February 2000
- 47. Prof. Dr. Muhamad Awang Do We Have Enough Clean Air to Breathe? 7 April 2000
- Prof. Dr. Lee Chnoong Kheng Green Environment, Clean Power 24 June 2000
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Ghazali Mohayidin Managing Change in the Agriculture Sector: The Need for Innovative Educational Initiatives 12 January 2002

- Prof. Dr. Fatimah Mohd. Arshad Analisis Pemasaran Pertanian di Malaysia: Keperluan Agenda Pembaharuan 26 Januari 2002
- Prof. Dr. Nik Mustapha R. Abdullah Fisheries Co-Management: An Institutional Innovation Towards Sustainable Fisheries Industry 28 February 2002
- Prof. Dr. Gulam Rusul Rahmat Ali Food Safety: Perspectives and Challenges 23 March 2002
- Prof. Dr. Zaharah A. Rahman Nutrient Management Strategies for Sustainable Crop Production in Acid Soils: The Role of Research Using Isotopes 13 April 2002
- Prof. Dr. Maisom Abdullah *Productivity Driven Growth: Problems & Possibilities* 27 April 2002
- 55. Prof. Dr. Wan Omar Abdullah Immunodiagnosis and Vaccination for Brugian Filariasis: Direct Rewards from Research Investments 6 June 2002
- Prof. Dr. Syed Tajuddin Syed Hassan Agro-ento Bioinformation: Towards the Edge of Reality 22 June 2002
- Prof. Dr. Dahlan Ismail Sustainability of Tropical Animal-Agricultural Production Systems: Integration of Dynamic Complex Systems 27 June 2002
- Prof. Dr. Ahmad Zubaidi Baharumshah *The Economics of Exchange Rates in the East Asian Countries* 26 October 2002
- Prof. Dr. Shaik Md. Noor Alam S.M. Hussain Contractual Justice in Asean: A Comparative View of Coercion 31 October 2002
- 102
- Prof. Dr. Wan Md. Zin Wan Yunus Chemical Modification of Polymers: Current and Future Routes for Synthesizing New Polymeric Compounds 9 November 2002
- Prof. Dr. Annuar Md. Nassir Is the KLSE Efficient? Efficient Market Hypothesis vs Behavioural Finance 23 November 2002
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Radin Umar Radin Sohadi Road Safety Interventions in Malaysia: How Effective Are They? 21 February 2003
- Prof. Dr. Shamsher Mohamad The New Shares Market: Regulatory Intervention, Forecast Errors and Challenges 26 April 2003
- 64. Prof. Dr. Han Chun Kwong Blueprint for Transformation or Business as Usual? A Structurational Perspective of the Knowledge-Based Economy in Malaysia 31 May 2003
- 65. Prof. Dr. Mawardi Rahmani Chemical Diversity of Malaysian Flora: Potential Source of Rich Therapeutic Chemicals 26 July 2003
- 66. Prof. Dr. Fatimah Md. Yusoff
 An Ecological Approach: A Viable Option for Aquaculture Industry in Malaysia
 9 August 2003
- Prof. Dr. Mohamed Ali Rajion *The Essential Fatty Acids-Revisited* 23 August 2003
- Prof. Dr. Azhar Md. Zain *Psychotheraphy for Rural Malays - Does it Work?* 13 September 2003

- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Zamri Saad *Respiratory Tract Infection: Establishment and Control* 27 September 2003
- Prof. Dr. Jinap Selamat Cocoa-Wonders for Chocolate Lovers 14 February 2004
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Halim Shaari High Temperature Superconductivity: Puzzle & Promises 13 March 2004
- Prof. Dr. Yaakob Che Man Oils and Fats Analysis - Recent Advances and Future Prospects 27 March 2004
- Prof. Dr. Kaida Khalid *Microwave Aquametry: A Growing Technology* 24 April 2004
- 74. Prof. Dr. Hasanah Mohd. Ghazali Tapping the Power of Enzymes- Greening the Food Industry 11 May 2004
- Prof. Dr. Yusof Ibrahim *The Spider Mite Saga: Quest for Biorational Management Strategies* 22 May 2004
- Prof. Datin Dr. Sharifah Md. Nor The Education of At-Risk Children: The Challenges Ahead 26 June 2004
- Prof. Dr. Ir. Wan Ishak Wan Ismail *Agricultural Robot: A New Technology Development for Agro-Based Industry* 14 August 2004
- Prof. Dr. Ahmad Said Sajap Insect Diseases: Resources for Biopesticide Development 28 August 2004

- Prof. Dr. Aminah Ahmad The Interface of Work and Family Roles: A Quest for Balanced Lives 11 March 2005
- Prof. Dr. Abdul Razak Alimon *Challenges in Feeding Livestock: From Wastes to Feed* 23 April 2005
- Prof. Dr. Haji Azimi Hj. Hamzah Helping Malaysian Youth Move Forward: Unleashing the Prime Enablers 29 April 2005
- Prof. Dr. Rasedee Abdullah In Search of An Early Indicator of Kidney Disease 27 May 2005
- Prof. Dr. Zulkifli Hj. Shamsuddin Smart Partnership: Plant-Rhizobacteria Associations 17 June 2005
- Prof. Dr. Mohd Khanif Yusop From the Soil to the Table 1 July 2005
- Prof. Dr. Annuar Kassim Materials Science and Technology: Past, Present and the Future 8 July 2005
- Prof. Dr. Othman Mohamed Enhancing Career Development Counselling and the Beauty of Career Games 12 August 2005
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Mohd Amin Mohd Soom Engineering Agricultural Water Management Towards Precision Framing 26 August 2005
- Prof. Dr. Mohd Arif Syed Bioremediation-A Hope Yet for the Environment?
 9 September 2005

- Prof. Dr. Abdul Hamid Abdul Rashid *The Wonder of Our Neuromotor System and the Technological Challenges They Pose* 23 December 2005
- Prof. Dr. Norhani Abdullah Rumen Microbes and Some of Their Biotechnological Applications 27 January 2006
- 91. Prof. Dr. Abdul Aziz Saharee Haemorrhagic Septicaemia in Cattle and Buffaloes: Are We Ready for Freedom?
 24 February 2006
- 92. Prof. Dr. Kamariah Abu Bakar Activating Teachers' Knowledge and Lifelong Journey in Their Professional Development
 3 March 2006
- 93. Prof. Dr. Borhanuddin Mohd. Ali Internet Unwired 24 March 2006
- Prof. Dr. Sundararajan Thilagar Development and Innovation in the Fracture Management of Animals 31 March 2006
- Prof. Dr. Zainal Aznam Md. Jelan Strategic Feeding for a Sustainable Ruminant Farming 19 May 2006
- Prof. Dr. Mahiran Basri Green Organic Chemistry: Enzyme at Work 14 July 2006
- Prof. Dr. Malik Hj. Abu Hassan Towards Large Scale Unconstrained Optimization 20 April 2007
- Prof. Dr. Khalid Abdul Rahim Trade and Sustainable Development: Lessons from Malaysia's Experience 22 Jun 2007

- Prof. Dr. Mad Nasir Shamsudin *Econometric Modelling for Agricultural Policy Analysis and Forecasting: Between Theory and Reality* 13 July 2007
- 100. Prof. Dr. Zainal Abidin Mohamed Managing Change - The Fads and The Realities: A Look at Process Reengineering, Knowledge Management and Blue Ocean Strategy 9 November 2007
- 101. Prof. Ir. Dr. Mohamed Daud Expert Systems for Environmental Impacts and Ecotourism Assessments 23 November 2007
- 102. Prof. Dr. Saleha Abdul Aziz Pathogens and Residues; How Safe is Our Meat? 30 November 2007
- 103. Prof. Dr. Jayum A. Jawan Hubungan Sesama Manusia 7 Disember 2007
- 104. Prof. Dr. Zakariah Abdul Rashid Planning for Equal Income Distribution in Malaysia: A General Equilibrium Approach 28 December 2007
- 105. Prof. Datin Paduka Dr. Khatijah Yusoff Newcastle Disease virus: A Journey from Poultry to Cancer 11 January 2008
- 106. Prof. Dr. Dzulkefly Kuang Abdullah Palm Oil: Still the Best Choice 1 February 2008
- 107. Prof. Dr. Elias Saion Probing the Microscopic Worlds by Lonizing Radiation 22 February 2008
- 108. Prof. Dr. Mohd Ali Hassan Waste-to-Wealth Through Biotechnology: For Profit, People and Planet 28 March 2008

- 109. Prof. Dr. Mohd Maarof H. A. Moksin Metrology at Nanoscale: Thermal Wave Probe Made It Simple 11 April 2008
- 110. Prof. Dr. Dzolkhifli Omar The Future of Pesticides Technology in Agriculture: Maximum Target Kill with Minimum Collateral Damage 25 April 2008
- Prof. Dr. Mohd. Yazid Abd. Manap *Probiotics: Your Friendly Gut Bacteria* 9 May 2008
- Prof. Dr. Hamami Sahri
 Sustainable Supply of Wood and Fibre: Does Malaysia have Enough?
 23 May 2008
- 113. Prof. Dato' Dr. Makhdzir Mardan Connecting the Bee Dots 20 June 2008
- Prof. Dr. Maimunah Ismail Gender & Career: Realities and Challenges 25 July 2008
- Prof. Dr. Nor Aripin Shamaan Biochemistry of Xenobiotics: Towards a Healthy Lifestyle and Safe Environment
 1 August 2008
- 116. Prof. Dr. Mohd Yunus Abdullah Penjagaan Kesihatan Primer di Malaysia: Cabaran Prospek dan Implikasi dalam Latihan dan Penyelidikan Perubatan serta Sains Kesihatan di Universiti Putra Malaysia 8 Ogos 2008
- 117. Prof. Dr. Musa Abu Hassan Memanfaatkan Teknologi Maklumat & Komunikasi ICT untuk Semua 15 Ogos 2008
- Prof. Dr. Md. Salleh Hj. Hassan Role of Media in Development: Strategies, Issues & Challenges 22 August 2008

- Prof. Dr. Jariah Masud Gender in Everyday Life
 10 October 2008
- Prof. Dr. Mohd Shahwahid Haji Othman Mainstreaming Environment: Incorporating Economic Valuation and Market-Based Instruments in Decision Making 24 October 2008
- Prof. Dr. Son Radu Big Questions Small Worlds: Following Diverse Vistas 31 Oktober 2008
- 122. Prof. Dr. Russly Abdul Rahman Responding to Changing Lifestyles: Engineering the Convenience Foods 28 November 2008
- Prof. Dr. Mustafa Kamal Mohd Shariff Aesthetics in the Environment an Exploration of Environmental: Perception Through Landscape Preference
 9 January 2009
- 124. Prof. Dr. Abu Daud Silong Leadership Theories, Research & Practices: Farming Future Leadership Thinking 16 January 2009
- 125. Prof. Dr. Azni Idris
 Waste Management, What is the Choice: Land Disposal or Biofuel?
 23 January 2009
- 126. Prof. Dr. Jamilah Bakar Freshwater Fish: The Overlooked Alternative 30 January 2009
- 127. Prof. Dr. Mohd. Zobir Hussein The Chemistry of Nanomaterial and Nanobiomaterial 6 February 2009
- Prof. Ir. Dr. Lee Teang Shui Engineering Agricultural: Water Resources 20 February 2009

- 129. Prof. Dr. Ghizan Saleh Crop Breeding: Exploiting Genes for Food and Feed 6 March 2009
- Prof. Dr. Muzafar Shah Habibullah Money Demand
 27 March 2009
- Prof. Dr. Karen Anne Crouse In Search of Small Active Molecules 3 April 2009
- Prof. Dr. Turiman Suandi Volunteerism: Expanding the Frontiers of Youth Development 17 April 2009
- 133. Prof. Dr. Arbakariya Ariff
 Industrializing Biotechnology: Roles of Fermentation and Bioprocess
 Technology
 8 Mei 2009
- 134. Prof. Ir. Dr. Desa Ahmad Mechanics of Tillage Implements 12 Jun 2009
- Prof. Dr. W. Mahmood Mat Yunus *Photothermal and Photoacoustic: From Basic Research to Industrial Applications* 10 Julai 2009
- 136. Prof. Dr. Taufiq Yap Yun Hin Catalysis for a Sustainable World 7 August 2009
- 137 Prof. Dr. Raja Noor Zaliha Raja Abd. Rahman Microbial Enzymes: From Earth to Space9 Oktober 2009
- 138 Prof. Ir. Dr. Barkawi Sahari Materials, Energy and CNGDI Vehicle Engineering 6 November 2009

- 139. Prof. Dr. Zulkifli Idrus Poultry Welfare in Modern Agriculture: Opportunity or Threat?13 November 2009
- 140. Prof. Dr. Mohamed Hanafi Musa Managing Phosphorus: Under Acid Soils Environment 8 January 2010
- 141. Prof. Dr. Abdul Manan Mat Jais Haruan Channa striatus a Drug Discovery in an Agro-Industry Setting 12 March 2010
- 142. Prof. Dr. Bujang bin Kim Huat Problematic Soils: In Search for Solution 19 March 2010
- 143. Prof. Dr. Samsinar Md Sidin Family Purchase Decision Making: Current Issues & Future Challenges 16 April 2010
- 144. Prof. Dr. Mohd Adzir Mahdi Lightspeed: Catch Me If You Can 4 June 2010
- 145. Prof. Dr. Raha Hj. Abdul Rahim Designer Genes: Fashioning Mission Purposed Microbes 18 June 2010
- 146. Prof. Dr. Hj. Hamidon Hj. Basri A Stroke of Hope, A New Beginning 2 July 2010
- 147. Prof. Dr. Hj. Kamaruzaman Jusoff Going Hyperspectral: The "Unseen" Captured? 16 July 2010
- 148. Prof. Dr. Mohd Sapuan Salit Concurrent Engineering for Composites 30 July 2010
- 149. Prof. Dr. Shattri Mansor Google the Earth: What's Next?15 October 2010

- 150. Prof. Dr. Mohd Basyaruddin Abdul Rahman Haute Couture: Molecules & Biocatalysts 29 October 2010
- 151. Prof. Dr. Mohd. Hair Bejo Poultry Vaccines: An Innovation for Food Safety and Security 12 November 2010
- 152. Prof. Dr. Umi Kalsom Yusuf Fern of Malaysian Rain Forest 3 December 2010
- 153. Prof. Dr. Ab. Rahim Bakar Preparing Malaysian Youths for The World of Work: Roles of Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) 14 January 2011
- 154. Prof. Dr. Seow Heng Fong Are there "Magic Bullets" for Cancer Therapy? 11 February 2011
- 155. Prof. Dr. Mohd Azmi Mohd Lila Biopharmaceuticals: Protection, Cure and the Real Winner 18 February 2011
- 156. Prof. Dr. Siti Shapor Siraj Genetic Manipulation in Farmed Fish: Enhancing Aquaculture Production 25 March 2011
- 157. Prof. Dr. Ahmad Ismail Coastal Biodiversity and Pollution: A Continuous Conflict 22 April 2011
- 158. Prof. Ir. Dr. Norman Mariun Energy Crisis 2050? Global Scenario and Way Forward for Malaysia 10 June 2011
- 159. Prof. Dr. Mohd Razi Ismail Managing Plant Under Stress: A Challenge for Food Security 15 July 2011

- 160. Prof. Dr. Patimah Ismail Does Genetic Polymorphisms Affect Health? 23 September 2011
- 161. Prof. Dr. Sidek Ab. Aziz Wonders of Glass: Synthesis, Elasticity and Application 7 October 2011
- 162. Prof. Dr. Azizah Osman Fruits: Nutritious, Colourful, Yet Fragile Gifts of Nature 14 October 2011
- 163. Prof. Dr. Mohd. Fauzi Ramlan Climate Change: Crop Performance and Potential 11 November 2011
- 164. Prof. Dr. Adem Kiliçman Mathematical Modeling with Generalized Function 25 November 2011
- 165. Prof. Dr. Fauziah Othman My Small World: In Biomedical Research 23 December 2011
- 166. Prof. Dr. Japar Sidik Bujang The Marine Angiosperms, Seagrass 23 March 2012
- 166. Prof. Dr. Zailina Hashim Air Quality and Children's Environmental Health: Is Our Future Generation at Risk?
 30 March 2012
- 167. Prof. Dr. Zainal Abidin Mohamed Where is the Beef? Vantage Point form the Livestock Supply Chain 27 April 2012
- 168. Prof. Dr. Jothi Malar Panandam Genetic Characterisation of Animal Genetic Resources for Sustaninable Utilisation and Development 30 November 2012